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Latest News
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Inforder to update the development trend of Starlite Group, we have launched the
electronic version of "Starlite News" published every quarter which will bring us
closer to our valued customers .

EXRBARCRFECERRMOEBR

Video of Starlite Shaoguan released on our Website
BSEMETMEL - BEP T AR MIRHERE

We will update our website regularly to let customers stay current of our developments.
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Color management

HMENESETRBZ RN R METEE  UERRALE
AEFRHUFABENER -

Press calibration for relocated printing press before mass production in
order to guarantee color consistency.
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ISO training
BEMEXNREEES NSO L IERES TISOR
EEEKRE -

Guangzhou Starlite colleagues actively participated in IS@,
training and successfully obtained ISO Internal Auditor
Certificate.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2021, the Group’s revenue
decreased by 7% to approximately HK$1,057 million. A loss of
approximately HK$99 million was recorded, compared to a

profit of approximately HK$8 million last year.

The performance of the Group during the period was lower
than expected, mainly because (i) demand in the global
packaging market shrank as a result of the COVID-19 global
pandemic, negatively affecting the business development of
various operating units of the Group to a certain extent; (ii) our
profit levels were affected by the appreciation of Renminbi by
approximately 8% and the exchange losses recorded during the
period, coupled with the failure to pass on the entire related
costs to customers as the prices of major commodities and
shipping costs soared in the second half of the vyear; (iii)
approximately HK$90 million of severance payment and other
related expenditures were recorded on the transfer of operations
of the Shenzhen plant to other plants, mainly the Shaoguan
plant, in Greater China.

Affected by the drastic fluctuations in the economic
environment, the performance of the four plants in the PRC was
varied during the year. The Shenzhen plant saw a turnaround
excluding the one-off expenses relating to business transfer. The
profit levels of the Shaoguan plant and the Guangzhou plant
narrowed slightly. The Suzhou plant was loss-making due to
higher raw material costs and outsourcing expenses. As for the
ASEAN region, the operation plans for Singapore and Malaysia
were affected due to multiple movement control orders within
Malaysia, resulting in losses for our companies in Singapore/

Malaysia.
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39,600,square meters’ofithe;Shaoguan factory;
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#3 EEICIX1702E161+ L
Heidelberg!Speedmaster.CX102-6+L

% BB A A (AutoPlate Pro)ifLt B Bk &% (Auto Plate) » AT
HBUIRES RIARI250% °

BEHILLE BB S R RUR M E IR — 1 E— AR HIRE —EENRE
@é#%ﬁ REER - BEIEXERIEENRR - BF ?E?ﬁ°
ENRIZRE 7 5Z 5/ 17,2005 ©
TEBEEEARS - ERERRERNENEE RIS -
50% less makeready time with AutoPlate Pro compared to AutoPlate.
Autonomous printing from the last to the first good sheet, fully automated job
changes: the ultimate solution.
17,200 sheets per hour from lightweight papers to cardboard.
Intelligent assistants: always the optimum washup program for efficient and
resource-friendly washing.

SEWRO0O6LYV
Manroland R906LV

EEERE - BNE - KIGEAVENRIBER L/ MEEED
RIMSRRE IR INED I BHE B A EﬂJr’nIJZé’EﬁH%FEﬁmE%E °
BT EMABENRFRBN RN NMERARERN KRS
ROLAND 900fBEN#8ES LA =3E16,000 EN//NEFAYZR ﬁEUFU
HEETSEEMNR - BEEERTHINE o
This highly automated, high efficiency, large-format press produces
significantly more multiple-up images than smaller format presses,
with demonstrably shorter make-ready times.
With an optional non-stop feeder and delivery system specially developed
for packaging, the ROLAND 900 can print up to 16,000 sph, providing
continuous high quality output as well as unbeatable productivity.

BREBAEI10OBUVHBF RS BRI/ EWF L ERA 05P

T T WoHMMT
Curigunll Curingunil Bth penting unit

W10 EReR E¥ y Wz R . SR

1. EREWMARR AIINRREREMUV) BIDRFERFEIE EXRR / 25T AL EEBRSE — R ZHRIE T mEESHRITIEE
BEBEINREM EXTE—RTH / 4. Lﬁ:/TJJl]I§|iE'J§/E MIRBARERE /| 5/ HEBRIBREGIR T A RHE100% R P ERE
1.Double curing unit enhance varnish smoothness. / 2.1st and 2nd unit resume normal printing function when cold foil transfer process is not required.
3.Foiling, print on foil, UV printing and varnish decoration can be done in one pass. No secondary process required. / 4.Eliminate registration and substrate
deformation problem caused by any secondary process. / 5.Cold foil transfer unit has a sustainable contribution to climate protection by offsetting 100%
carbon foot print.



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The outbreak of COVID-19 more than a year ago has caused an

unprecedented impact on the global economy. From raw

material supply, human resources arrangement, logistics and
transport to marketing, the entire value chain has been
constantly interrupted. In the face of the pandemic and
uncertainties in the external environment, the Group responded
quickly and adjusted its business strategy promptly to maintain
its competitiveness in the market. The Group continued to
expand and optimise its customer structure by vigorously
exploring the emerging and domestic markets. Moreover,
continued to reduce unnecessary operating and human resources
expenditures to lower operating costs. In addition, the Group
seized the opportunities arising from gradual market recovery in
the second half of the year and focused its resources on the
faster roll-out of its new production capacity. Furthermore, a
long-term strategy is to integrate and streamline the operations
in the southern China region to facilitate the sustainable and
healthy development of the Group. Details are set out in the

section headed “Business Review and Prospects”.

DIVIDENDS

In order to retain resources for the Group’s future development,
the Directors do not recommend a final dividend for the year
ended 31st March, 2021 (2020: final dividend of HK1 cent and
special dividend of HK5 cents per ordinary share). No interim
dividend was paid for the six months ended 30th September,
2020 (30th September, 2019: Nil).
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TeamGreen

HELTRREERENF

The grand opening of Team Green store in Peak Plaza

Team Green L TEFEAR/E 2 742021
F5A10REERHE  RI5FD
REHRTERELEE -
Team Green store in Peak Plaza
had a grand opening on 10 May
2021, Guests were impressed with
our product range.

. 2020FREHES
Vi Hong Kong Top Brand Awards 2020

F12ERARAARME KEERLE

The 12th Brand Award Presentation

& %8 HkB Designed.injHong]KongfAwardsy202058
HKB De5|gned in Hong Kong Awardsy2020 ”

TVBE| 2 X EEEBIES
RASHEEEER

TVB visited Starlite headquarter
to film “The Most Popular
Environmentally Friendly
Wooden Boutique Award”
award-winning specials.



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Overview

During the period under review, the world experienced major
changes unseen in a century. The ongoing geopolitical frictions
and the worsening COVID-19 situation put economic
globalisation into reverse. The world economy was stagnant,
international trade and investment were plunged, and the flows
of people, goods and capital were interrupted. The new normal
of the stay-at-home economy posed challenges to the traditional
economy. However, in every crisis there is an opportunity.
Following the optimisation of anti-epidemic policies and the
accumulation of experience in various countries together with
the availability of vaccines, the Group capitalised on its long-
standing reputation in the industry and its strong customer base
and rode on the momentum built up by the partial economic
recovery in the second half of the year. The Group actively
responded to the changes in the external operating environment,
raised its technological standards and increased its efforts in
customer expansion. Its business rebounded significantly in the
second half of the year as a result, offsetting part of the
negative impact of the pandemic and multiple operating

difficulties on performance.

Meanwhile, the Group actively promote lean manufacturing,
Amoeba management practice, business process optimisation
and precise inventory management and other measures to
effectively control operating costs. During this adversity period,
enabling the Group’s Shaoguan plant to integrate an automated
logistic system and warehouse management system to keep
improving cost efficiency and make a profit. Excluding the one-
off expenses relating to business transfer, the Shenzhen plant
also recorded a profit. The Guangzhou plant was in the process
of integrating its internal operations, which temporarily affected
operating costs and weakened its profitability. Overall, the
southern China operation saw a decline in revenue but

contributed more add-on values to the Group.

Despite making a loss due to additional outsourcing expenses
as the annual operation plan was affected by labour shortage,
the eastern China operation grew rapidly in the second half of
the year. On the other hand, losses incurred by the Southeast
Asia operation increased as operation and production came to a
half halt on multiple occasions given the volatility of the
pandemic in the region. Companies had to bear part of the
costs during suspension, affecting the profit of the Southeast

Asia operation.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In response to macroeconomic uncertainties, the Group seized
the opportunity to accelerate the integration of business and
resources in the Greater China region to enhance the overall
operating efficiency of the Group. The disposal of the entire
equity interest of Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. was
completed on 8th June, 2021, with the balance of the
consideration of approximately HK$308 million already
transferred to the Group’s account. The customers’ orders,
production lines and fixed assets of the Shenzhen plant were
successfully transferred to other plants in Greater China in the
fourth quarter of the financial year. The new, modern smart
logistic in Shaoguan also commenced operation in the first
quarter of the new financial year, which helped the Group to
expand its presence in the Greater China region and the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and ensured

the steady development of the Group’s operations.

Southern China Operation

Profit of the Group’s southern China operation remained stable
during the year. The COVID-19 outbreak weakened the demand
of the global retail market. Customers reduced their annual
budgets given the lockdown measures in various countries, and
growth of the southern China export-oriented operation was
disrupted. Except for children’s books and technological
products packaging that benefited from the stay-at-home
economy, orders from certain industries, such as greeting cards,
toys and cosmetics are contracted. Nevertheless, the three
plants in southern China took advantage of the regional scale.
Flexible deployment, reliable supply and the resources of
marketing partners to actively integrate the value chain during
the period. Our operation team review the pricing strategy of
products, avoid fierce competition in areas with low technology
content and low added value, act based on customer demand,
enhance the value for customers, improve operating efficiency
and offset the impact of reduced demand on profit caused by

the economic downturn.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In addition, to make the best preparations in the most difficult
time, the Group was accelerating the construction of a new
development pattern, i.e. the domestic and international dual
circulation model. Completing the project to revitalise the
property value of the Shenzhen plant a few months ahead of
schedule, which effectively enhanced the value of the Group’s
assets. The Group also continued to increase its investment in
Shaoguan by introducing the advanced Heidelberg and
Manroland six-colour offset presses. The full-process smart
manufacturing and logistics system is to prepare for the new
economy after the pandemic. By then, the northern Guangdong
plant will grow into an important driver of the Group’s overall
revenue growth. During this period, the Group won the China
and Greater Bay Area Market Leadership Award from the Hong
Kong Institute of Marketing, and the Shaoguan plant received
the “Caring Enterprise” honour from the Shaoguan City Guan
Shao Industrial Park Enterprises Association. These
encouragements greatly strengthened the Group’s confidence in
its continued contribution and development in the southern

China region.

The sales of the Group’s innovative, environmentally friendly
brand TEAM GREEN® declined due to the sluggish retail
market. During the period, the Group actively developed new
product series and strengthened brand promotion. For instance,
the Group set up the TEAM GREEN® Puzzle Museum in the
LOG-ON stores in Causeway Bay and Festival Walk,
participated in the 19th China (Shanghai) Toys Exhibition 2020
and explored two new development directions with innovative
ideas and interactive functions, i.e. TeamGreen® Lifestyle and
TeamGreen® Design; TeamGreen® JIGZLE Home’s Baby Giraffe
Chairs were used by Miramar Group as decorations in Mira
Place; a distributor in Japan prepared to launch the VW TI1
Camper Van designed and produced by TeamGreen® and was
interviewed by Mono, a well-known consumer magazine in
Japan; and the flagship store of TEAM GREEN® was opened at
The Peak Galleria in Hong Kong. During the period, TEAM
GREEN® won the “Hong Kong Top Brand Award” in the “Hong
Kong Top Brand Awards 2020” organised by the Hong Kong
Brand Development Council, the 12th TVB Brand Award from
Television Broadcasts Limited and the Hong Kong Business
Designed in Hong Kong Award 2020 from Hong Kong Business

Magazine.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Eastern China Operation

During the period under review, the eastern China operation
rebounded strongly in the second half of the year. Through
product innovation and order portfolio diversification, the
management team strengthened market development in the
Yangtze River Delta Economic Circle. Explored customers in the
cosmetics, stationery, household goods industries to facilitate
the growth of domestic sales, offsetting the decrease in revenue
from the greeting cards operation due to the suspension of the
European and American consumer markets. However, certain
orders had to be outsourced in the second half of the year as it
was more difficult to line up human resources in the region due
to the pandemic. Overall, the eastern China operation recorded

a slight increase despite a lower profit margin.

On the other hand, the management team was implementing a
number of operation optimisation proposals to increase
production capacity and expand market share. Apart from the
increasing investment in smart manufacturing, such as overall
leadership in ballpoint printing project automation and the
application of six-axis robots in the distribution process of
various materials, a new KBA 10-colour UV offset press was
introduced as a major step forward in the creation of a base for
printing and innovation industries in eastern China. In addition,
the Group’s Amoeba management practice of idea + abacus
was officially implemented in the Suzhou plant. Together with
the steady progress in upgrading the enterprise resources
planning system, business, financial and information flows were
deeply integrated, covering various segments such as marketing,
procurement, R&D, production, warehousing and logistics.
Stronger profitability was achieved for the eastern China
operation and interim results were achieved in respect of
effective cost control measures. During the period, the Suzhou
Municipal Government visited Suzhou Team Green Home
Products Limited and appreciated the business development of
TEAM GREEN® in the Greater China region.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

South East Asia Operation

During the period, the Southeast Asia operation registered a
slight increase in revenue but was loss-making. Given the
volatility of the pandemic and the increasing number of cases,
the business and operation expansion plan for the ASEAN
market was hindered by the movement control orders
implemented in Malaysia. The continuous lockdown measures
led to increases in raw material and logistics costs and incurred
high suspension costs. However, the Group'’s first priority is to
protect the health and safety of employees and take additional
preventive measures, including providing masks and hand
sanitisers for plant employees, increasing the frequency of
disinfection in the workplace, strictly implementing temperature
checks and maintaining social distancing. Remarkable results
were achieved, laying a good foundation for the resumption of

normal operation after the pandemic.

Despite the operational challenges, the management team was
committed to exploring new customers while maintaining closer
relationships with existing customers. It also had cooperation
directions in place with certain renowned international brands
from different industries to create demand for services in
innovative medical care and smart home appliance sectors. This
gave the Group an advantage in providing multi-regional and
international services for faster business development in

Southeast Asia in recent years.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2021, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-

term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$275 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$11 million (of which including
imputed interest expense from amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary of approximately HK$6 million) compared to

approximately HK$8 million recorded last year.

As at 371st March, 2021, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$84 million compared to a working
capital surplus of approximately HK$125 million as at 31st
March, 2020. The Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2021 was 33% (2020: net cash position), based on short-term
and long-term bank borrowings, lease liabilities, bill payables
and amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary net of bank
balance and cash of approximately HK$116 million and
shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$353 million (2020:
HK$449 million). The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2021 was 111% (2020: 29%), based on short-term and long-
term bank borrowings, lease liabilities, bill payables and amount
due to a purchaser of a subsidiary of approximately HK$391
million (2020: HK$129 million) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$353 million (2020: HK$449 million).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2021, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$53 million
(31st March, 2020: HK$19 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

All land use rights and buildings of Starlite Printers (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd (“Starlite Shenzhen”) with a total net book value of
approximately HK$26 million as at 31st March, 2021 have been
pledged to the Lender as security for the loan advanced to
Starlite Shenzhen pursuant to the loan agreement dated 21st
February, 2020 entered into between the Lender and Starlite

Shenzhen.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the
Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating
expenses in Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi

exchange rate exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has approximately 3,100 employees. The

Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
providing them with competitive packages, incentive schemes
as well as various training programmes. The Group has
maintained a Share Option Scheme under which share options
can be granted to certain employees (including executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company (excluding
independent non-executive directors)) as incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The Group provides various training
and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The
Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and

education institutions abroad to enhance its staff quality.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for
young people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
— Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong

—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

The Group has established an environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) management team to manage, monitor,
recommend and report on environmental and social aspects. An
ESG report is being prepared with reference to Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be
published on the Company’s website (http://www.hkstarlite.com)

no later than five months after the end of the financial year.

LOOKING AHEAD

In the latest World Economic Outlook report released by the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) in April 2021, the roll-out of
vaccines was expected to promote economic recovery in the
second half of the year, with global economic growth projected
at 6% in 2021 and moderating to 4.4% in 2022. The future
economic trend depends on the evolution of the health crisis,
including whether the vaccines are effective against new virus
strains and whether the pandemic will last longer due to new
virus strains. This reflects the damage caused by the pandemic
to the supply potential as well as certain factors that existed
before the outbreak, including slower labour growth given the
ageing population in developed economies and some emerging

markets.

As huge uncertainties lie ahead of global economic recovery,
the management is actively reviewing the costs of each
operating unit to save recurring expenses while continuing to
promote business and industry upgrading and transformation
and step up its efforts to develop domestic and overseas
markets. The promotion of its own brand, the domestic sales of
self-made, export products and the full implementation of
automated Industry 4.0 are speeded up. It will maintain a
positive attitude and strive to create values for the Group and

shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
customers, bankers, suppliers and friends in the community for
their continued support and all our staff for their loyalty and

dedication.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2021
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

I am glad to see you all in the wake of the pandemic. I always
believe that where there’s a will there’s a way. We love our
lives, careers and society. We all have a part to play in fighting

the virus!

Just as we all think the rare COVID-19 outbreak causes
inconvenience to our lives and studies, fewer human activities
bring the earth a brief respite. A slower pace of life allows an
opportune time to reflect on the implications of our greedy
consumption of resources. The earth needs better ecological

restoration.

The personnel of Starlite are determined to plant as many trees
as possible, should they be ornamental or fruit-producing, to
produce more oxygen for the benefit of mankind. Solar energy
is collected on the buildings on the estates to make use of
renewable energy as much as possible. In addition, ponds are
built to keep fish and beautify the landscape in a bid to create
a place for work, life, and research that everyone loves while
making a profit. The ultimate goal is to achieve carbon

neutrality on Starlite estates as soon as possible.

To allow us more time to enjoy the natural landscape, robots
are used to lighten our workload so that we could have the
opportunities to appreciate the beauties of nature. As such,
modern equipment from Europe, cross-building logistics systems,
5G network, smart warehousing, plants requiring less manpower
and dark factories come into being. We will also abolish human

wave tactics and invest in tomorrow one step at a time.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Our dreams are carried by our products, and the packaging of
which is there to safeguard the contents and make them more
presentable. Greeting cards and children’s books bring love far
away close to our heart. The paper we use, especially for the
creative products from our brand, is mainly FSC certified, which
brings us closer to our family. Our process is digitalised from
start to finish, which enables decentralised production.
Furthermore, Starlite uses as many degradable materials as
possible. It is the job of the personnel of Starlite to make it an

environmentally friendly enterprise.

Everything we do is inseparable from everyone’s support. |
would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
our bankers, friends, customers, and suppliers, particularly our

colleagues who stand by us in weal and woe!

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2021

BMMERABHZRMANEZE EREEBAZER
ERRBLEENZTR BERNEZEEMREIN
o EBEA BELETERRR HMAMEERE
EEFSCRE LHEAMWAAMEEIEEM ¥
MRAMER  ARNAMOBBEEREHALRE
EERMOGIEEF O R BIXBOAEDH
BEURER ERERENSAFEEERENA
PN

B —EAROIBHOIE BUHEEAR
TRALT REERAL REMOES  RAEM
MEER LEZERMBMEEAXNAEMEED
HE

TR
M

BB ZE—FXA=-t+hA

23



24

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue PN

Operating (loss)/profit ez (B8R s F

(Loss)/profit for the year FRAQRBEE A
attributable to the owners  JEA5 (&18) & 7
of the Company

Dividends 5]

Basic (losses)/earnings per ZANQAHEH AL
share attributable to the FRER(EE)
owners of the Company &2 GEA)

(HK cents)

MBRE

mEWER

Year ended 31st March
BE=RA=1+—HBLEFE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-—F —ZZT-FTF —ZT-NEF ZTE-NF ZT—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER FHET FHET FET FET
1,057,477 1,135,902 1,430,998 1,533,094 1,445,870
(98,713) 27,056 (14,506) (42,279) 20,622
(98,525) 8,499 (37,925) (54,436) (9,184)

— 31,508 — 5,251

(18.76) 1.62 (7.22) (10.37) (1.75)




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Total equity

MBRE

e MR R R

As at As at As at As at As at

31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

R-B-—F RZZTZTF RZZT-NF RZT-NF RZT—+tF

=R=+-8B ZA=+—-8H ZA=+-HB ZB=+—-H ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT FAET FAET FAET

ERBEE 426,780 340,946 379,051 407,467 380,787

MEVEE 592,722 516,623 637,239 749,638 657,727

REEE (508,645) (391,313) (540,396) (505,516) (414,647)

TBEEFE 84,077 125,310 96,843 244,122 243,080
BEERRDAR

510,857 466,256 475,894 651,589 623,867

ERBEE (157,638) (17,665) (7,283) (118,781) (79,970)

EEFE 353,219 448,591 468,611 532,808 543,897

a4 353,219 448,591 468,611 532,808 543,897
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2021.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development since the Group’s
business, can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and

Chairman’s Letter set out on pages 7 to 23.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that
its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. A senior management committee of the Company is
delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and
practices for achieving compliance with legal and other
regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant

employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all
material respects with laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2021, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 31% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 24%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 10% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 8% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2021 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

72 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid for the six months ended 30th
September, 2020 (six months ended 30th September, 2019: Nil).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2021 (2020: final
dividend of HKT cent and a special dividend of HK5 cents per
ordinary share). As at 31st March, 2021, the Group’s retained
profit of approximately HK$101,558,000 was available for

distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 25 and 26,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 27 and 33(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.

As at 31st March, 2021, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$27,698,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2021.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in Note 14 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2021 are set
out in Notes 21 and 30 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$119,000 (2020: HK$242,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the

date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Shing (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching (Senior Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong,
Larry, sgs, jp, Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Mr. Tin Shing
will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2021, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests
E3ng 54 BAER
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner 202,842,677
MR MEE EnlER
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and interest 79,916,000
BETL of controlled corporation

ERBERRRBHDRAZER

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching Beneficial owner 118,000
REREE En#AR
Note:
1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2021, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 15th August, 2012 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply
with the current statutory requirements. The Company may
grant options to the participants as set out in the New Share

Option Scheme.
Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme
To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the

Company and its shares.

2. Participants of the New Share Option Scheme
(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any
subsidiary; and

(ii) Any executive director and non-executive director
(excluding independent non-executive directors) of

the Company or of any subsidiary.
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3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
New Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of the annual report

The Company may initially grant options representing
52,513,528 shares under the New Share Option Scheme
(i.e. approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the approval of the New Share
Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and
any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No
options may be granted under the New Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme if that will

result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the New Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company in
any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares

in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option
Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or

grant of the option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time during a period
commencing on the expiry of 6 calendar months after the
date of grant of the option, but in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant.
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7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must
be paid
The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$10 and an offer shall remain open for acceptance by
the participant for a period of 28 days from the date on
which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that

participant.

8. The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in

its absolute discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business

day; or

(i)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; or

(iii)  the nominal value of the shares on the date of

grant.

9. The remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.

During the year, no share option was granted under the New

Share Option scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s directors, chief executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.
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Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 31 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any of the Company’s directors or members of its management
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2021, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the Shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

REREH g7

Ms. Li Lin Interest of spouse

F L B B rE s

Note:

1. Ms. Li Lin (“Ms. Li”) is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (“Mr. Lam”) (director

and controlling shareholder of the Company), by virtue of SFO she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Mr. Lam. The shares held by
Mr. Lam and Ms. Li were the same block of shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2021, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2021.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all
the Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration
Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-

Executive Directors of the Company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis and making recommendations to the Board

regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 24 and 25 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2021, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.
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Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 38 to 56 of the

annual report.

Management contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2021.

Employee and remuneration policies

The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
to their strength and development potential. The Group
determined the remuneration packages of all employees
(including the Directors) with reference to individual

performance and current market rate.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him
or her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2021 and remained in force as of the date

of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.
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Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2021, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate
governance practices of the Company during the year ended
31st March, 2021 and significant events after that date and up
to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2021.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance framework, and there is clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is

responsible for:

J formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

o reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

o ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

o monitoring the performance of the Management.

At the date of this report, the Board has seven members,
comprising three Executive Directors, one Non-Executive
Director and three Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Independent Non-Executive Directors represented more than
one-third of the Board members, thus exhibiting a strong
independent element which enhanced independent judgement.
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company is a practicing CPA in Hong Kong and
possesses appropriate professional qualifications and financial
management expertise as required under the Listing Rules. A list
containing the names, roles and functions of Directors is
published on the websites of the Group and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the “HKEX”).

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2021, four full Board
meetings, one special general meeting (“SGM”) and the 2020
annual general meeting (“AGM”) were held with an average
attendance rate of 100%, 86% and 86% respectively, details of

which are presented below:

Board Members

Board Members

BEsgmE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MK E
(Chairman of the Board) (EFC L)

Mr. Tin Shing H 3ot &

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & B S

Non-Executive Director FHTES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRELZL

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRAA e A&

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny EEIESE

Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the
Board at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved
by the Chairman following consultation with other Board
members. Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched

to all Board members in a timely manner.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied
with and advises the Board on corporate governance and
compliance matters. They are also encouraged to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
performance of their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the
Directors are covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability

Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision A.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. As
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the Chairman of the Company, is also an
executive Director of the Company, this code provision is not

applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her
retirement from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been
appointed for a specific term as she is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-

laws of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

o provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
. serve on committees if invited; and

. scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

>
e
i
K
H
I

EERITEAR

SRR EA2 MRRTE IR D T ETHAHN A
B TTNEA-ARKHRE-ARFALBEDTE
HOTBEH MAEMELEBAMFEZMERL &
ZefHE B ARCTEIFERTRAHNBEAE
RRFE BRI AR R R R ZEB R AN
TEBFE - BEZ2HE EE0HRBREENE
BATHER MEBEXNEDRBILFRNTES
WRIARRARMEND RBEET Y FE -

SFAMEXFEA27GRE  EREELSFEBIIFE
WITESRET - RBEMERIEZEH -ANK
RBAEFEMAWMEETBARBRATES  RAT
Mg A E A -

FHTES

BRLTERKMBIE  HoRTEEBERAERT
EE-BRLL U BEBEANEA BEHAL
AMARBIAFAR HESREER -

BYFHITES

BYRNTEENAGRBETIIEE:

. REFSSH LRUBIIAE:

. RERBEN S FREFEHEIE

. MESFNHEZEEGKRE &

Ba

BEREBERALBER -

41



42

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company
or its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member
of any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee and the Board has assessed the
independence of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors of
the Company and considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on independence
as required under the Listing Rules, (ii) the absence of
involvement in the daily management of the Company and (iii)
the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would

interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry,
sgs, p and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an independent non-executive director and there is no
evidence that their tenure have had any impact on their
independence. The Nomination Committee and the Board are of
the opinion that Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam remain
independent notwithstanding the length of their service and
believe that their valuable knowledge and experience continue
to generate significant contribution to the Company and the

shareholders as a whole.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
AGM, not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall retire at least once every
three years. The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-
election. New appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by

shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
All' Non-Executive Directors including Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company have not been appointed
for a specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All' Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Ms. Yeung Chui was unable to attend
the SGM and AGM of the Company held on 8th April, 2020
and 19th August, 2020 respectively as she was engaged in other

prior business commitments.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had
arranged in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-
Executive Director in form of seminar and provision of training
materials. In addition, the Company also provided regular
updates to the Directors in respect of the business and
operations of the Group through monthly reports; and the
updates on the changes in Listing Rules, Corporate Governance

Code and related regulatory requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken

by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members
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REFHEN BREBARRREHASENER
RZEEMBER: RABLTRY  AEBEATAR
HEEERNEE (NE) -

FA SUEF2NZHEZXRRRFABEOT

Type of training

BEsgmE FIRBER

A B C
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MAWMEE(EEFSLE)

(Chairman of the Board) 4 4 —
Mr. Tin Shing H 35t & v v —
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching B kL v v v
Non-Executive Director FHUITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI+t v v —
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRA8 S & v — v
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp R - wxmgs L Fat v — v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B EE A v — v
A.  reading materials in relation to regulatory update A AHEEMTERFEENEHR
B. attending in-house training to update business B. [HEQAREBEEBEHEENHNIIEI

development

C. attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop

professional skill and knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.

C. HESNE RE/MIASUBRFESE
BBE B A0

FRAARARKIIKEERESHEAEEAEXKLE
Eee M E ARG -
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Supply of and Access to Information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined
terms of reference (which are posted on website of the Group
and the HKEX), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination

Committee and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its
duties and responsibilities.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2021, two meetings were held, attendance of these

meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:
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ExeRE
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RAFHEH AARCKRI-AEFRBTEE
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FHEES
THZEENBEANESCERFEMEAEERAR

IEEZM%BZ%E& FEES  TEATEERS
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FHEE AR BFERTMAGHE  AHMAEY
BHRERERBHAZEZEAFER A -BE=
E-—F=ZA=t+—HLEFER FHEZESET
TRMREH MZFEFNLFEEWT

Meetings Attended/

Remuneration Committee Members Held
FMEEERE BRHE BT
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) BRASSE 52 & (F /%) 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sas, jp PWE @ v mes A Fw+ 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B EEAE 2/2
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The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2021.

During the year ended 31st March, 2021, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$10,542,000 (2020:
HK$11,006,000), individual details of which are disclosed in
Note 10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and
senior management’s compensation including incentive bonus

shall be based on the corporate and individual performance.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and

Chairman of the Board.
The main duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and to select or to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;

(c)  to assess the independence of the Independent Non-

Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and

succession planning for Directors.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2021, one meeting was #HEZT-_—F=ZA=+—HILFERN RELZE
held, attendance of the meeting held by the Nomination E®RI{TT7T —AgFH MEZEEHLFBERLOT -
Committee is set out below:

Meeting Attended/
Nomination Committee Members Held
REZEEGRE EREE BT
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, jp (Chairman) DR - sremzs xFat (FE) 11
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR A8 5 & 11
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu R ok A 11
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B E A 11
Ms. Yeung Chui BRELL 1/1
Nomination Policy REBE

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors. Below are the nomination procedures and the process
and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select

and recommend candidates for directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria

in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

(@)  Skills and Experience
The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge and
experience which are relevant to the operations of the

Company and its subsidiaries.

(b)  Diversity
Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company and the balance of skills and experience in

board composition.

(c) Commitment
The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend board meetings and participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated
as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) and
will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the Nomination Committee should consider
the reason given by the candidate for being able to

devote sufficient time to the Board.

ARFREEMRLRE  EFIEHREAMZEES
ZiEERBR TIHIRRAZEGCRARAKRE
AREREZREREFRBRE-

REEA
REZBEXRENESEZHER BHEETR
RIAT IR :
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AR AR -
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(d) Standing
The candidate must satisfy the Board and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited that he/she has the
character, experience and integrity, and is able to
demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate

with the relevant position as a director of the Company.

(e) Independence
The candidate to be nominated as an INED must satisfy
the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Nomination Procedures

(a) If the Nomination Committee determines that an
additional or replacement director is required, the
Committee may take such measures that it considers
appropriate in connection with its identification and

evaluation of a candidate.

(b)  The Nomination Committee may propose to the Board a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to
the Board.

(c) On making recommendation, the Nomination Committee
may submit the candidate’s personal profile to the Board
for consideration. The Board may appoint the candidate(s)
as director(s) to fill a casual vacancy(ies) or as an
addition to the Board or recommend such candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (where

appropriate) at the general meeting.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the
Policy and diversity of the Board from time to time to ensure its

continued effectiveness and compliance with Listing Rules.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2021.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 3Tst March, 2021 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong.
It also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2021, two
meetings were held, attendance of the meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:
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Meetings Attended/

Audit Committee Members Held
EREEENE BRHE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) B ESE A () 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#S e 8 & 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, /P IME - s cFmt 2/2
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the
function to a senior management committee to perform the
corporate governance function. The scope of works of the

committee including the following:
o to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and

directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2021, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company.
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The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
senior management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The
Board determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be
taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the
overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least
annually, covering all material controls including financial,

operational and compliance controls.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Senior
Management identifies risks that would adversely affect the
achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and
prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and in performing the internal audit functions for
the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are
proposed for improvement. Significant internal control
deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are

taken.
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Risk management report and internal control report are
submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a
year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status

of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and considers the systems were

effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.

The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$2,492,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$836,000 was for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company with effect from Tst April, 2019. He
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to
proper Board processes and the timely preparation and
dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas and
papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the
Company has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In
response to specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary
confirmed that he has complied with all the proposed
qualifications, experience and training requirements of the

Listing Rules.

Mr. Poon confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the business
of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner. The Group encourages all shareholders to
attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of
AGM.

The Company has established the Shareholders” Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been
posted to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.

Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting
(“SGM”) are set out in the Company’s website. Shareholders
may send their enquires requiring the Board’s attention to the
Company’s principal place of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or by e-mail to enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the
procedures for convening or putting forward proposals at an
AGM or SGM may also be put to the Company by the same

means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.
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Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was
adopted by the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to
determine (i) whether dividends are to be declared and paid;
and (ii) the level of the dividend to be paid to the shareholders.
It is the policy to allow the shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for future

growth.

In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form
of any dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall

consider the following factors:
(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and

future development plans;
(iii)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(iv)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company;

(v) the possible effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the
financial covenants to which the Group is subject and
any restrictions on the payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group’s lenders;
(vi)  shareholders’ interests;
(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
(viii) and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
The payment of dividend is also subject to the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including the laws of Bermuda,

the financial reporting standards that the Group has adopted
and the Company’s bye-laws.
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Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws during the year ended 31st March,
2021. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws is posted on the
websites of the Company and HKEX.

On behalf of the Board
Poon Kwok Ching

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2021

L T—

4

_n

N

3

~

3

N
gt

REBRE

>

BEXH

AABHEBERRALARAMNRBE_T - —F
AT -BRLEFEABMEZY EHBERAMAK
N EH R R AR A AR B AR R R BB A P A U

EEEE W
RE]E

& Bl

BB T —FA=Z+hA




MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 74, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Currently,
he is studying the Engineering Doctorate postgraduate
programme. Mr. Lam has been in community work in China
and Hong Kong for many vyears. He is a member of the
Standing Committee of the 10th, 11th and the 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a director of Chinese Overseas Friendship
Association, a member of Selection Committee for the
Government of HKSAR and a committee member of the Election
Committee Subsector Elections, Chairman of Mainland Affairs
Committee of Scout Association of Hong Kong, Chairman of
Polar Museum Foundation, Director of Future Star, an Adjunct
Professor of College of Business of City University of Hong
Kong and Director of Guangzhou Jinan University. Mr. Lam has
received several prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs
Award 1990”, “Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong
Kong Print Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2002. Mr. Lam has over 57 years’ experience in the printing
industry and takes charge of the overall planning, strategy and
development of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to
enhance the transformation of Starlite, business diversification,
products development, OBM product, intelligent (automation)

systems and industry 4.0 in recent years.

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 57 joined the Group in September 1981.
He was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from 1st April, 2019. Mr. Tin has over 40
years’ experience in the operation and management of package
printing companies and he has been responsible for the overall

planning and daily operations of the Group in the PRC.
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Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, aged 43, joined the Group in September
2006. He was appointed as Executive Director; an Authorised
Representative of the Company; the Senior Vice President (Chief
Financial Officer) of the Group; the Company Secretary of the
Company; and a director of certain subsidiaries within the
Group with effect from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Poon graduated
from The University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration and he has extensive
experience in the fields of audit and accounting. Mr. Poon is a
Management Accounting Expert appointed by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC, a Committee Member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou City
Haizhu District, an Associate Member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow Member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon
has also received a Commendation awarded by the Home
Affairs Bureau of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC in 2018.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 74, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1st
September, 2011. She has over 50 vyears’ experience in the
printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 69, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan was the former
Chairman and is currently the non-executive director of the
publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong Kong.
He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings
Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pacific
Textiles Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International)
Limited, Modern Dental Group Limited, and Human Health
Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a double major
degree in Sociology and Political Science, a Master degree in
City Planning from the University of Manitoba, an Honorary
Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, and is bestowed
as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan currently
is the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services Association, as
well as being the Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong
Institute of Marketing. He has many vyears of professional
experience in the public sector and over 30 years’ managerial
experience in the food and catering industry.
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Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, sss, p, aged 65, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is currently
a partner of Kwok Yih & Chan (“KYC”), Solicitors. Prior to
founding KYC, he worked in a number of international law
firms, including Baker & McKenzie, Simmons & Simmons
(Partner), Andersen Legal (Managing Partner, Greater China),
Mallesons Stephen Jaques (Managing Partner, Mainland China
and Hong Kong) and King & Wood Mallesons (Managing
Partner, Asia Strategy & Markets). He graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with combined degrees in
accounting/economics and laws respectively as well as a
master’s degree in laws. He also obtained the Advanced
Management Program diploma from the Harvard Business
School. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor in Hong Kong,
Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in England and Wales and
a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia. He has served regularly on
Government boards and committees. Previously, he was
Chairman of the Transport Advisory Committee, Chairman of
the Independent Police Complaints Council, Convenor of the
Disciplinary Appeals Committee of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Chairman of the Traffic Accident Victims Assistance
Advisory Committee, Chairman of the Appeal Board of the
Criminal & Law Enforcement Injuries Compensation Boards,
Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council and Deputy Chairman
of the Appeal Board under the Consumer Goods Safety

Ordinance.
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Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 72, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty Executive
Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also a Past President of The Society of
Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as an
independent non-executive director of certain listed companies
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, namely, CCT Fortis Holdings Limited, Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord Grand (Group)
Limited, Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited, West
China Cement Limited, BeijingWest Industries International
Limited, GBA Holdings Limited and Wisdom Education

International Holdings Company Limited.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set

out on pages 72 to 184, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
March, 2021;

J the consolidated income statement for the vyear then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the

year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March, 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matters are identified in our audit as follows:

J Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets;

and

. Provision for inventories obsolescence.
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

B2 BE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

ME-BERRE EREEEURFADEEZANRZBEN G

Refer to Notes 2.5, 2.6, 2.19, 4(a), 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements
BRI A HRENE2.5, 2.6, 2.19, 4(a), 14815

The Group has approximately HK$415,169,000 of
property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”), right-of-use
assets (“ROU”) and prepayments for non-current assets
as at 31st March, 2021, of which approximately
HK$83,285,000 HK$288,946,000 and HK$37,825,000
are related to the Group’s production plant and
machinery, ROU and prepayments for non-current
assets in eastern and southern China and Malaysia
respectively. The Group’s eastern and southern China
segments and Malaysia are three separate Cash
Generating Units, all suffering from loss for the year
of approximately HK$25,921,000, HK$45,454,000 and
HK$23,599,000 respectively. The recovery of the
economic performance of the assets in eastern China,
southern China and Malaysia were slower than
expected due to global market sentiment, intense
competition and Coronavirus Disease 2019 pandemic.
EEBR T F=ZA=1+-"HHYE BELER
wBIWE BELRRED ERREE(EREEE])
VAR FE M E) & E 2 TR FR 4D /415,169,000 7T » K
#183,285,000/8 7T - 288,946,000/ JT A 37,825,000
Bl BEEESNER FEOLERATMNLEE
BEL#EES EREEENRERDEEZRNZRE
e BEXENER EELRSAATSIBR=(EE
YREELBEN RAFEEZMISEESHRRRERD
7l #125,921,0007 JT - 45,454,000 7T 523,599,000
T-ER FEELSRATEELERANEESK
REPRE TEARBETHEELE BNRFR
20195 BV M BB R 1B

We performed the following procedures to address this key

audit matter:

HFVET T AT RRF ARG EFH

We obtained an understanding of management’s internal
control and assessment process of the preparation of
cash flow projection and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk
factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud.
THREBEUNABEZNERRSRERAINF LB
B WRBZEMITZAEEEEE REMEARERE
HHPKF (IEMEMN T8I ZHRHEEEERMLE
BR BRI ) AT E KB ERBROR B B B L B o

We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with supporting
evidence for the PP&E, ROU and prepayments for non-
current assets in eastern and southern China and
Malaysia.

HRERREBARSREATHYE BELRE EH
BEENNERDEE2ANRMET - WAIUEE
XHRER  BEEEMBEROBERSETIE-

We involved our in-house valuation expert in assessing
the methodology of management’s impairment assessment
based on the value in use calculation and the fair value
less cost of disposal model, and the key assumptions
used in the management’s impairment assessment of the
PP&E, ROU and prepayments for non-current assets.
HMPBALEEERTHEEERBEEAEERARA
BEALERNANERAENREN G E RERE
R BELRXE EAREEARERPEEZR
5 SR R (B RT 1 PR P RO B 4R R -
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

B ZBE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(continued)

ME-BERRE ERAREEURFIADEEZANRZHER G ()

Management assessed the recoverable amounts of the
PP&E, ROU and prepayments for non-current assets in
eastern and southern China and Malaysia separately
as three Cash Generating Units, and based on the
higher of values in use or fair values less cost of
disposal. The values in use and fair values less cost
of disposal of the PP&E, ROU and prepayments for
non-current assets for these three segments are
determined by management based on the future cash
flow generated by these assets and the market value
of these assets respectively. Management engaged
independent external valuer to assist them to value
these assets. Based on management’s impairment
assessment, an impairment charge of approximately
HK$784,000 is recognised for Malaysia in the current
year. No impairment charge is recognised for eastern
and southern China in the current year.
EREAREREEXARBEREERANREE -
N EERIEIULSRAT=—@BIReEL
BUMYE BELRRGH EAEEENRFERDE
EZBNRNAIKEEE EEEDRBELEEE
EANARRREREAMLEEENTHER B
E-EDBzME BEIEE EREEENARE
MBEEZERNROEREBERIABERDEKA -
EREEFBE LB EHEMAGDHERBRE LS
EENBE BEBEERENHEN G NFEERS
KPR E R X 49784,0008 T AEFEEERRER
I 4% FE RAE AR E R X

For value in use calculations, we assessed the
management’s impairment assessments based on the
future cash flow forecasts, by comparing sales growth
rates to the underlying assumptions in the latest Board
approved budgets and the discount rates to the cost of
capital for the Company and comparable organisations.
We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculations
of the management’s impairment assessments derived
from the forecast models and assessed key inputs in the
calculations by reference to management’s approved
budgets. We also checked the key data inputs, on a
sample basis, of management’s approved budgets by
reference to third parties information such as purchase
orders, and we assessed the historical reliability of the
budgets.

BEMEEFENS  AMEBH E/ARENEES
EHAENTFEETPHNRARINEEERXIRESH AN
BRREEAEERABLLER KM EEEBRERRK
Ren8FAETORENGE -HMAURATEREHE
ABRGENREFGEAENBBERE Y2EER
BRI EEETTEFETORRBARE - RMNT22E
REIESEE - TENMEREEEENEHEREN
FREE YAFHEENELASET-

We assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent external valuers.

AR T BN EM B ERE D - BE ) REBIL



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

B2 BE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(continued)

ME-BERRE ERAREEURFIADEEZANRZHER G ()

We focused on this area because significant
judgements are involved in management’s impairment
assessment in the determination of the recoverable
amounts of the PP&E, ROU and prepayments for non-
current assets which are based on various key
assumptions and estimates such as sales growth rates
and discount rates in the value in use calculations
and other assumptions and data inputs such as
comparable transactions and market values in
determining the fair values.

BHAEINL RAREREBNMENGHS REXH
B HREEME BEREE EREEEN
FOERBEEZENFM LD EELENSZ R
BRERRERAEENGE  OINEEREXRGFEHE
EREENRBEREEMERE N REABE Al
AUHBORGUARTHEEBAEEEAAEE:

o We assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions
and data inputs used by the independent external valuers
and management, on a sample basis, such as the
comparable transactions and market values available for
the PP&E and ROU.

B MR BN ER R ERE AN ERER
RBABBOAEN JIMAELENR S RDE K
ERREAREREEENTSEER-

o We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessments based on the cash flow forecasts by
considering the variables and fluctuations in those
underlying key assumptions by checking to available
market information and other supporting evidence.
BT EEERHERARRRNERLRY  HERRE
RERAKBSREBBETRENENABERRRE
TEHRESN ZHEATHERRIHFER -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
key assumptions and estimates used by management in
assessing the impairment of PP&E, ROU and prepayments for
non-current assets to be supportable.

RIBALPETORESF RMRAREBEANTEDE BE
REF EREEENIERBEEZENRNRERBAH
B
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

Provision for inventories obsolescence

REFEZRHE

Refer to Notes 2.9 and 18 to the consolidated
financia/ statements

R A FEREN #2.9K18

At 31st March, 2021,
approximately HK$104,139,000,
obsolescence of approximately
HK$33,096,000. Among these inventories,
raw materials of approximately HK$41,232,000, work

the Group held inventories of
net of provision of
inventories

there are

in progress of approximately HK$24,949,000, and
finished goods of HK$37,958,000.
stated at lower of cost or net realisable value.
RZBEZ—F=A=+—H BESERFAFEND
104,1390008 T MK R EFTEZ REZEBH
33,096,000 T-E X EFE P EMHB LA
41,232,000 7T - £ & £ 524,949,000/ 7T - B
i #) 737,958,000/ 7T o 17 & LA BK 2N 5k AT & 3% (B 5|
BE o

Inventories are

Management assessed the provision for inventories
obsolescence periodically based on consideration of
potential obsolescence and slow moving of raw
materials and work in progress, and the estimated
selling price less cost to sell of its finished goods. The
identification of inventories obsolescence and
determination of estimated selling price less cost to
sell require the use of significant judgements by
considering various factors, including their nature,
ageing, and the latest selling price.

EEEREBEHEERERFHENEMHRESRR N
REZR MO EBRLEXRRNNEE  EHFE
REFENEE BHIREFEREEGHTEERD
EXRAAERERHFLZEERZ AR SFELEE

Bk EHEE-

B ZBE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

We performed the following procedures to address this key

audit matter:

HAE

TTATNRFABABERETF]AE

We obtained an understanding of management’s internal
control and assessment process of management’s
estimation of provision for inventories obsolescence and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to management
bias or fraud.
THREEEHAANNEEREEEGAREFTERER
WHREBE  TRBZEEMEA 2 TREERE M
BlARBRREZOKF(MERE  TBE ZPRYER
[B1R Mok RN GURMN) T ERERRANEE AR -

We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls on
management’s periodic assessment of provision for
inventories obsolescence across the Group.

BHMTH FEXRASERETHIE EEERER
BB R BE g2 1l

We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory aging by
comparing the inventory records with the underlying
documents.
HfEBERFEREEBEAXN  mEARFEER -
We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various raw
materials and work in progress, on a sample basis, to
assess the appropriateness of the associated provision
made, if any.
BMmERESERM R ER S
AL PTEARBEE (WA —RE “n\?é?"

HEMERBR A
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

Provision for inventories obsolescence (continued)

REFE ZBHE (F)

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision
for inventories obsolescence required management
judgements on estimates of future demands and

ageing of the inventories.
BRPRUESERESSTHE SHRRETEARS
BEEEHFENRRE LR ER G EL -

Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for
information. The other information comprises the in
Information”,

included in the “Corporate

Statement”, “Chairman’s Letter”
of the Directors”,

“Management Profile”

“Chairman’s %]
, “Financial Summary”
“Corporate Governance Report”, and

(but does not include the consolidated

B2 BE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

o We reviewed the subsequent sales of finished goods. We
tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent selling price of
different products and compared with the average unit
costs.

BMESHAREROEE  RAMEAATAERR
B EELEF I ERKAELE -

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered the
estimates made by management in assessing the provision for
inventories obsolescence to be supported by available
evidence.

REBEAEFMETHRERF  RMABASEEER
‘ﬁ}%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ{’ﬁﬁjﬁ’ﬂﬁéﬂéTﬁ/_ o

Hipfs B

ELARESAYHMEREE - HMERBERM
EAZBMBEAAMNSOIRBAER] [EF R
[ERE THBRE [EFgRE] (D
XERMES IR EEREGNI(ETRFEGEMB
BRREMNOZEMRES) LA&?EHJ%H% EARZH
MmRERAEIMEHNIRE HERERREIANGE

FEREIFHET

the other

formation

, “Report

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we & °

obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”,

expected to be made available to us after that date.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
cover the other information and we do not express an

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated

statements, our responsibility is to read the other information

and, in doing so, consider whether the other infor

and the
which is
does not HMHEGLEUBERENEELTREEMES - K

MR THZEEMEERREATEANEESEH -

y form of

n

financial #HERMYEEMBHRROETN  HMANEERE
EEMES HEUBEET ZEHEMELEED ELR
EMBHRRIXBRMESFTBETATHENBEAFE
EAEBERELFEEERNBRRANIBR

mation is

materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the audit
committee and take appropriate action considering our legal

rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee

for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

B ZBE RS

ERBEMEATHIE UREMABLSEBLELSE
EERERRL ZMEEREZEE -EETE
B2 EMHRE -

ERMUERE @ RhBERABREIE MRREM
REEPEEEAHERRL RMFTEBFHER
HERZERRR UZEHMNEZENMEBL
REUEETH -

EERERZEENRAMBERAR
EHEE
ERREZABERBEEGHMDGEMNE
S R E R R BCR ARG 8 3% 5E R E
BEEMTENGEAUBHRE UTHERRRER
EMBHREROBMB I FEANRFRBERME D
EABERRAAFENANBEFNASE -

ERBFEAVBRRT EFA5FM E5EF
BERENEN TEBRBATHRERFELE
MER URERFSELERSTER KRIFE
EZEEH EEEBRAFULLE HPNEHEHME
BREOERTER-

ERZERARAEE ESENMBREERE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

B2 BE RS

BREMBESREMBRRARENEM

HMOHBER EHGAUMBERRERES T FAERH
RERFFRERMEBNERNERRAIMG A BRE
THABEHRMEROZEMBRE - HMERRE
RE-NN-F(RRPE)FE0%R BT (R
BERMOBR BRI ZABERNBEEME M-
BHM T ERARENATAEMEMA LA LK
EEAEE-aERERSKFIHRE BTER
FRB(GEEFMEIETNRT  EX —EXE
R R 7 1 8 AR IR o BH SRR R DA o BXRE SR
Rl MREEBHEMEBIERLERAGER
BRAVBRREREREFAVBRRMELD
BERE A BB ERER AT RREER -

ERB(EEEFEIETETNBIED  HE
RTHEZEHE REETEFREEE - HAIT:

. B ALY fE B R EF SR ER ER T 8 B & B 7%
BERFEERNBRBRANER - &R R
EFRFABREELRR  ARERI RN
HEMNETRE EREMERINER - AR
BEAgPRER BE EBER ERR
o SR RRAEESZ b Bt REERE
BRFMEHMEARERRAN AR SR REE
B30 O # BR T 28 B0 B KB AR PR B LB -

. TRRERERMNEESE - LR EE R
E:RF - BEMYIEE EREREZEHE
BRMEHERER -

. HEEEMRASHBRENREERELS
HEET MR EN S IEM -
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J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

BAZBMRE

. HEESRAFBALLESTERNBEHEL
Ewm o RIBEMERNNENER HERAFE
HEBEXBERABEONERNTHEEM MW
EERY ERENRELERNELEAXN
RE- -MREMAR/FEERTEEE  AIF
VDEEREMBRETRBEREIEGREY
BRERTFOMBAEE -BREARNEETR
AIRMEZEERFERBEERL - RAANER
EENZHENRE A LABRENETRE-
A RRFEKISERATEGE BEBE T

42 g AN
FHELE -

. HESAMBRRNBEEINRS X - EBA
NE BREREE URGaUWBBREIZETE
RERZZHMEIE -

. # O EEENERAXBIDNMBELE
Wi BENENEE URHEAVBR
REXRBR -BMEE BELEFHNTR-
EEMHBIT BRA/EAERAERIEE-

BREMERIN HMEEREZEGBERTHENE
FEE - RERHF BEBAEFERE BERME
2 TR Bl R BB Y RO () R BREA -

HMEMNERZESRIER HAARMETEE
MBI ENERERERER YRMMEBA
EREEMERREXERMBLENTERBENE
ER UREBEBRBBRT - HREITE E R
AR Ry
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From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2021

BAZBMRE

NEHEZZESBBNERT  BMABEWLER
HARGEAYBREANBARAEZ EAMBEKE
REAEFHE - RMAERBOBEPRAELER
BIFERERTATAARBEEL TR HERK
FEMNBAT MREEBEHERMBETERE
EREMRMNBERRBEEEN ARG  RAR
ETNEERETEBZER -

HEABUZEMBENEFEEARAZRERS -

BOEBKESTMSEEM
HE B

BB —EZ-_—FxXA=-1+hA
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2021

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and (losses)/gains — net

Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses
Reversal of impairment losses on

financial assets

Operating (loss)/profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance income/(costs) — net

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to

the owners of the Company

(Losses)/earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company for the
year (expressed in HK cents per share)

— Basic

— Diluted

e W s R
BHE_ZT-—F=ZA=Z+—BLtFE

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —TFF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FExT FATT
A 1,057,477 1,135,902
5 B (888,364) (904,422)
EF 169,113 231,480
Hap g A R (B18) /W=
— FEE (65,852) 19,068
HERDHEER (66,055) (63,671)
—BERITEAX (137,476) (161,540)
S RVE ERE RS D &
1,557 1,719
wiE (B8R, & H (98,713) 27,056
A& WA 16,072 510
A& B (10,623) (8,361)
BMEWA S (AAR) — FE 8 5,449 (7,851)
B AR AT (& 18) 55 A (93,264) 19,205
FEHHAX 11 (5,261) (10,706)
FARNRRER AEG
(B18) & F (98,525) 8,499
FRAQNRFEE AEETR
(B8], &F
(BB WLZT)) 12
— R (18.76) 1.62
— BE (18.76) 1.62

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bR A a5k e B BE I 2 B 5 — ARG -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st March, 2021

(Loss)/profit for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss):

ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Currency translation differences

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

FR(ER)EF
Hit2mlaE (B8 :
A G # 77 HH E 18 7 A IE H

EHER

T BB BER=AEE

Increase/(decrease) in fair value of financial assets

at fair value through other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable

to the owners of the Company

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income

BARBEFAELGEZE
WEWEMEEZ AR
BEE M, O D)

FREMEEKE (FE) -

B 1%

FAXQRAEEAERLEEE
BRAR

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

meEZHEW SR
BHE-_ZT-—F=ZA=Z+—BLtFE

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=Z+—-BLFE
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —E-FF
HK$/000 HK$'000
FHER FAET
(98,525) 8,499
34,569 (27,932)
92 (587)
34,661 (28,519)
(63,864) (20,020)

bl AR A 2T Woan KO8 BR8P 2 B SE — GFARGT o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION mEMBRRE

As at 31st March, 2021

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deposits
Deferred income tax assets
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Tax recoverable
Bank deposits with maturity over 3

months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

R-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=BA=+-8
2021 2020
—E-—F S
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT FET
BE
IRBEE
L ER G 14 333,095 289,832
FREEE 15 33,337 32,697
IERBEE 2B K 19 48,737 1,511
b7k 19 — 549
RS EE 23 1,769 1,604
BAABESAEMEEK
=SB E 17 1,510 1,418
BARBEFABZED
EREE 17 8,332 13,335
426,780 340,946
REEE
FE 18 104,139 107,089
B RWERRER 19 179,671 154,522
ENREBERZS 19 29,672 21,459
AT Uk B FT 15 B 3k 3,992 1,153
RERBERTERA
@AM ZEITHER 20 201 201
ReakBeE 20 275,047 232,199
592,722 516,623
HmEE 1,019,502 857,569
e
AATEEAELER
& A 25 52,514 52,514
E 27 300,705 396,077
ERHBE 353,219 448,591




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2021

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary
Deferred revenue
Lease liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and bill payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities
Current income tax liabilities
Borrowings
Amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary
Lease liabilities
Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

e BRI R

RZE-_—F=ZA=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=ZA=+-—8H
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —E-FF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FER FA&T
8 1&
kRBEE
BE 21 — 9,167
B —MEBARE S ®RE
24 154,065 —
IEE WA — 604
HEAE 15 1,885 2,458
BEMEHREBE 23 1,688 5,436
157,638 17,665
REAE
EHRNERRER 22 136,842 84,752
HMENRRES B E 22 102,802 155,098
EHBRE 5 4,904 4,646
BENERFR IS Hi & 1E 30,422 28,866
A& 21 158,728 113,079
B —MEBARE S MHRIE
24 69,692 —
HEAE 15 5,255 4,671
IR FE YA — 201
508,645 391,313
EE8E 666,283 408,978
EEREEAE 1,019,502 857,569

The above consolidated statement of financial position should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 184 were

approved by the Board of Directors on 29th June, 2021 and

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
K a0
Chairman
e

bt A BT AR R R E SR BE B 2 i AT — T AR R

ENAZIMAZEEHBRERENR T - —F <A

“ThAEESEERERRRESE -

Poon Kwok Ching
& B
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2021

Balances at 31st March, 2019 and
at 1st April, 2019

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Decrease in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive loss,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance at 31st March, 2020

R-ZB-N#F
=ZA=+t-HK
—E-NF
mA—B&&

Eq L&
F A E A

Hftn 2 W &
BAREETAEM
PEHRENEREE
ZRARBERD
ERER

Hit2HEEEBH
— BRH&

FAREBEERE

R-B-Z2H
=A=+—H&&

GAMEBBR

BHE_ZT-—F=ZA=Z+—BLtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATER AR

Reserves
Share capital (Note 27) Total

it
i 2= (B &E27) et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET THET TR
52,514 416,097 468,611
— 8,499 8,499
— (587) (587)
— (27,932) (27,932)
— (28,519) (28,519)
— (20,020) (20,020)
52,514 396,077 448,591




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2021

Balances at 31st March, 2020 and
at 1st April, 2020

Comprehensive loss

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners
Dividends paid

Balance at 31st March, 2021

R-B-ZFF
=ZA=+t—-HK
—E-RF
mA—B&&

EHEBE
FABA

Hftn 2 H W &
BAREETAEM
2EHKENEREE
ZRAREEEMN
ERER

H fth 2 [ K 25 48 58
— BRHE

FAZEBEERE

HENRERAZ
BEAXS
BRI RS

R=-B=—F
ZA=t-B#&&

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

GAREBBE
BHE-_ZT-—F=ZA=Z+—BLtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATER AR
Reserves
Share capital (Note 27) Total
it
@S (B &E27) et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAET THET TR
52,514 396,077 448,591
— (98,525) (98,525)
— 92 92
— 34,569 34,569
_ 34,661 34,661
— (63,864) (63,864)
— (31,508) (31,508)
52,514 300,705 353,219

bty s B R B EEE Y 2 f AT — T AR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 2’3‘-

For the year ended 31st March, 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash (used in)/generated from
operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Overseas income tax paid

Hong Kong profits tax refunded

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Decrease in short-term bank deposits
with maturity over 3 months from
the date of deposits

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans
Repayments of bank loans
Principal elements of lease payments
Interest elements of lease payments
Dividends paid
Amount due to a purchaser of a

subsidiary

Net cash generated from/(used in)

financing activities

REFDZRERE
wEEB (R EE
ZHRE
RS
ENEENSR
EH@%%%&
REBRBMEM

BEER (A EEZHR
%/? %E

REFBZHERE
ME - BE R
RIEF
HEWE BELEKEZ
P15 4 A
HERAABES ARR
MEREENMSRA

HEXBREFERB
=18 A2 5 2 %
RAT I FOR D

SR &IPS

REEHAAZREFE

MEFH2RERE
HIRRITER
BEBRITER
HENF $%%
MENFFE
BENEE
EN—MMBRREND®
IR

MEBHELE (A Z
HeFH

Note
B 5

28(a)

28(b)

A=+—HItFE

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=+—HLEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-ETF
HK$/000 HK$'000
FH T FATT
(76,401) 112,741
(3,948) (8,025)
(3,142) (3,284)
(9,260) (3,754)
21 455
(92,730) 98,133
(131,339) (25,758)
19,124 438
5,852 —
— 15,749
1,711 510
(104,652) (9,061)
147,600 95,397
(114,742) (185,187)
(5,173) (3,788)
(258) (336)
(31,508) —
208,302

204,221 (93,914)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 42 B4 hRE X 79
For the year ended 31st March, 2021 HE-_Z-_—F=A=+—BILEE

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=+t—-BLEFEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TH
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt e FHET FET
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and BeRBESESEZFEEM
cash equivalents /R 6,839 (4,842)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUOZRERAEEHE
beginning of the year 232,199 249,982
Exchange gains/(losses) on cash and cash H& ERBRE&EEHEZ
equivalents &5 U (5i8) 36,009 (12,941)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FRACEESREESZE
the year 20 275,047 232,199

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read  L#l#4 AR S REREHEFEW 2 Ml cE —HFARRT -
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including
environmentally friendly paper products. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to the

“Group”.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and its
principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The Company’s shares have been listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income which are

carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

21

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting

policies. The areas involving a higher degree of

judgement or complexity, or areas where

assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

(@  Amendments to existing standards and
revised conceptual framework adopted by
the Group
The following amendments to existing
standards and revised conceptual framework
have been adopted by the Group for the first
time for the financial year beginning 1st
April, 2020:

Standards Subject of amendment

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to Definition of a Business

HKFRS 3
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRS 9, Reform
HKAS 39 and
HKFRS 7
Conceptual Revised Conceptual

Framework for Framework for
Financial

Reporting 2018

Financial Reporting

The Group has adopted these amendments
of standards and revised conceptual
framework and the adoption of these
amendments of standards and revised

conceptual framework do not have

significant impacts on the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

e MR MR

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EERETHRBEE
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)

(b)

New standard, interpretation and

amendments to existing standards have been

issued but not effective and have not been

early adopted by the Group

A number of new standard, interpretation

and amendments to existing standards have

been issued but not effective for annual
periods beginning on Tst April, 2020 and RRNFERE
have not been applied in preparing these A

consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 17
BEEMBREENSI7R
Amendments to HKAS 1

BEEGHEAEIRNER

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and
HKAS 37

BEEMBRELEGR  FEGHER
F16F REBE G LB EI7HRAER

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EENBRELENZI0NRE B £
22855 B ET

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB BREEE165HER]

Amendments to HKFRS 16

EERBREEUNB16RAOER]
Annual Improvements Project

FENEER
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BBREE552020)

b) CEMEDARLEZRAEHARE

Insurance Contracts

REREH

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

BESEARDIFERD

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

ME BERXE: - RTBRANZHAE
;A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

REZEHEMENAIKEGELELEN
EELER LA

COVID-19-related Rent Concessions

COVID-19Z H SR %

COVID-19-related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

COVID-19 202146 A308 LA & Z IHEHE &
&

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2018-2020

BB BT H 5 £ R12018-20205F & 2t

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

FHBERMNINE — ERAHBEAHEE
EREERTNEHRERN SR

BERANGIER  2EREE
2R 4918 5T

ZEMAER  RBLAAERD
BEAIR-_ZE-_TFHA-BRF
EHEEBRBEMARER BER

MBBRETREE

Effective for annual
periods beginning on
or after
FEHERR
HUEER

1st January, 2023
—EZ=%—A—H
1st January, 2023

—T-=%—-A—H
1st January, 2022

—ETZ=¥—R—H

A date to be
determined

RHBERFERE

1st June, 2020
—Z-ZTFXA-H
1st April, 2021

1st January, 2022
B =
1st January, 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standard, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards have been
issued but not effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the new standard,
interpretation and amendments to existing
standards when they become effective. The
Group has already commenced an
assessment of the related impact of adopting
the above new standard, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards, none of
which is expected to have a significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

2.2 Consolidation

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for business combinations
by the Group (see Note 2.2.2).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of

financial position respectively.

2.2.2 Business combination

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition

of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

° liabilities incurred to the former

owners of the acquired business

J equity interests issued by the Group

o fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity

interest in the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.2 Business combination (Continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s

net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The excess of the

. consideration transferred,

. amount of any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired

entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement
as a bargain purchase. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
2.2.2 Business combination (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

2.2.3 Change in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result in a
loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount of the adjustment to
non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised
in a separate reserve within equity
attributable to owners of the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to the consolidated income
statement or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

Consolidation (Continued)

2.2.4 Separate financial statements
In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

24

Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are generally recognised in the consolidated

income statement.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other income and (losses)/

gains — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, are included in other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

24

2.5

(d)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(©

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation), or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to consolidated income

statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in consolidated income

statement.

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.

Property,

plant and equipment excluding

construction in progress, are stated at historical

cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to

the acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

—  Buildings 25 to 50 years
—  Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
—  Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

—  Motor vehicles 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount

(Note 2.6).

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation
work has not been completed. It is carried at cost
which

expenditures and other direct costs less any

includes construction and installation

impairment losses. On completion, construction in
progress is transferred to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until it is

completed and available for use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “other income and
(losses)/gains — net” in the consolidated income

statement.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there

a

=

e separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-
generating units”). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each

reporting date.

Financial assets
) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in

the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCl”) or

through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised

cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7 Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for

managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are

expensed in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7  Financial assets (Continued)
(iii)  Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the assets. There are two
categorise into which the Group classifies its

debt instruments.

J Amortised cost: Asset that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interests are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other
income and (losses)/gains — net”,
together with foreign exchange gains

and losses.

o FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other income and
(losses)/gains — net in the period in

which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the
Dividends

investments continue to be recognised in

investment. from which
profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s
established.

right to receive payments is

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in other income and
(losses)/gains — net in the consolidated
income statement as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are
not reported separately from other changes

in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and fair value through other
comprehensive income. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

29

2.10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the Company or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. They are generally due
for settlement within 1 year and therefore are all

classified as current.

Trade receivable are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional

unless they contain significant financing
components, when they recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate. See Note 2.7
information

for further about the Group’s

accounting for trade receivables and for a

description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.11

Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
in hand,

deposits held at call with banks, other short-term

and cash equivalents include cash
highly liquid investments with original maturities of

three months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
To the

extent there is no evidence that it is probable that

is deferred until the draw-down occurs.

some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12

2.14

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)
General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of statement
of financial position in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if it arises from initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the date of statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be

utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in
deferred

timing of the reversal of the temporary

subsidiaries, except for

income tax liability where the

difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can

be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net
basis.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are

legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either

offset where the entity has a

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)
2.15 Ordinary share capital

Share are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.16 Employee benefits

(@)

b

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the date of

statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contribution for
post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities,
insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds. The Group pays contributions on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The contributions are recognised as
employment benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or
a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of option
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has

created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to

any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in

the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

2.18 Revenue and income recognition
(@)  Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when control of the
products has been transferred to customers,
being when the products are delivered in
accordance to the delivery/shipping terms, or
when the risk of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customers, or the

Group has objective evidence that all criteria

for goods delivery have been satisfied.

Customers obtain control when the goods

are delivered to agreed destination. Revenue

is recognised at that point in time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.18 Revenue and income recognition (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(0

Sales of goods (Continued)

A receivable is recognised when the goods
are delivered as this is the point in time that
the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before

the payment is due.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at
amortised cost calculated using the effective
method is

interest recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to
the net carrying amount of the financial

assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a

corresponding liability at the date at which the

leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are

initially measured on a present value basis. Lease

liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives

receivable; and

payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.19 Leases (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the

measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and

conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the

Group:

J where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third

party financing was received;

J uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does

not have recent third party financing, and

J makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg

term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the

remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19

2.20

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of

lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease

incentives received;
o any initial direct costs; and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets including land use rights and
leasehold land are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise IT equipment and small

items of office furniture.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability
is not recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20

2.21

2.22

2.23

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed

non-
wholly within the control

in the notes to the financial statements when an
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an
inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.

Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the

the Company’s

Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends
Company’s shareholders.

are approved by the

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will
comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in
statement over the period necessary to match them
with that they are
compensate.

the consolidated income

the costs intended to

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred
consolidated income statement on a straight-line

revenue and are credited to the
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Contract liability

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount
of consideration that is due) from the customer. If
a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk and price risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by senior management of the Group under
policies approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate
in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), United States dollars
(“US$”) or Malaysian ringgit (“RM”).
The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through sales
and purchases transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiary. The Group considers its
foreign currency exposure mainly
arises from the exposure of RMB and
SGD against Hong Kong dollars and/or
US$. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged
to US$, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated
in US$ which are entered by group
companies with a functional currency
of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2021, approximately
99% (2020: 97%) of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB while the
remaining were mainly denominated
in US$ (2020: US$). The Group’s
borrowings are mainly in Hong Kong
dollars or RMB for operation in the
PRC. At present, the management does
not expect that there will be any
significant foreign exchange risk
associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use
any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group’s borrowings during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2021, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2020:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant, pre-
tax loss (2020: pre-tax profit) for the
year would have been approximately
HK$3,079,000 lower/higher (2020:
HK$856,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

At 31st March, 2021, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2020:
5%) against US$ with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax loss
(2020: pre-tax profit) for the year
would have been
HK$4,778,000 lower/higher (2020:
HK$2,257,000 higher/lower), mainly

as a result of foreign exchange gains/

approximately

losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2021, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2020:
5%) against US$ with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax loss
(2020: pre-tax profit) for the vyear
would have been approximately
HK$1,165,000 lower/higher (2020:
HK$936,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in non-
functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

At 31st March, 2021, if RM had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2020:
5%) against US$ with all other
variables held constant, pre-tax loss
(2020: pre-tax profit) for the year
would have been approximately
HK$498,000 lower/higher (2020:
HK$175,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in non-
functional currency of the relevant

group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.

As at 31st March, 2020, the Group’s
interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from

the Group’s bank borrowings.

As at 31st March, 2021, the Group’s
interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank borrowings and non-current
amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary. The Group is exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
bank

arising from the Group’s

borrowings.

The Group’s non-current amount due
to a purchaser of a subsidiary is non-
interest bearing and exposes the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group’s fair value interest rate
risk is concentrated on the fluctuation
of the RMB benchmark loan interest
rates for financial institutions arising
from the non-current amount due to a

purchaser of a subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@

b

Market risk (Continued)
(if) Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2021,

on bank borrowings and non-current

if interest rates

amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary had been 10 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables
post-tax loss (2020:
post-tax profit) for the year would
have been HK$22,000 higher/lower
(2020: HK$100,000

mainly as a result of higher/lower

held constant,

lower/higher),

interest expense on floating rate bank
borrowings and off-set by higher/lower
net imputed interest income on non-
current amount due to a purchaser of

a subsidiary.

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
Most

renowned.

management on a group basis.
customers are sizable and
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

At 31st March, 2021,

concentration of credit risk as 27% (2020:

the Group had a

20%) of the total trade receivable were due
from the Group’s five largest customers and
7% (2020: 10%) of the total trade receivable

were due from the Group’s largest customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the

days past due.

The Group categorises its trade receivables,
based on the nature and geographical areas
of the business, shared credit risk
characteristics and aging profile collectively.
The expected credit loss rates are determined
based on past repayment history and
historical credit losses experience. The
expected credit loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle

the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS mEMBHRRME 115

3  Financial risk management (Continued) 3 BBEBREE(E
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BMERBEZE(E
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) b)) EFEREE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) EREEREE)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31st Bt RZE—FR_ZE-F
March, 2021 and 2020 was determined as FZA=Z+—HESREKERIZ
follows for trade receivables: W RORE RSB

91-130 181-365 Over 365

31st March, 2021 0-90 days days days days Total
“E--f#=ZH=t+-H 0-90F  91-1808  181-365H  #iB365H B
Expected loss rate HHEEE 1.56% 37.79% 99.21% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount BHREE

— trade receivables — B RYER 181,143 1,982 507 7,498 191,130
Loss allowance BRAER 2,818 749 503 7,498 11,568

91-180 181-365 Over 365

31st March, 2020 0-90 days days days days Total
ZTZTH=ZA=+-H 0-90H  91-180H  181-365H  ##iA365H ot
Expected loss rate BHERE 0.75% 39.60% 22.13% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount BREE

— trade receivables — BRI 154,059 1,404 985 10,884 167,332
Loss allowance BEEE 1,152 556 218 10,884 12,810
Movements in loss allowance for trade BSRWERBBERBEZEZHR
receivables are shown in Note 19. 1927 -
Trade receivables is written off when there is EESREWERESEE AN
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Yem - BN LA 8 0 & 32 TR H R
Indicators that there is no reasonable EEFEEFBEEHFARRE
expectation of recovery include, amongst I I % 3 B AR B ARG &

others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a

repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables is B HRWRFTUREBENKE (B
presented as net impairment losses within B),/ BRRREEEEES
operating (loss)/profit. Subsequent recoveries 5 - H & B B LA AT B 45 ) 258
of amounts previously written off are RE—HBEHREA-

credited against the same line item.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

(©)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and the PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore,

associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
with maturity over 3 months from date of
deposits (Note 20) and undrawn borrowing
facilities (Note 30) on the basis of expected

cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the date of statement of financial
position date to contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
Balances due within twelve months equal
their carrying balances, as the impact of

discounting is not significant.

e MR MR

3

Bt 7 B B E ()

3.1

Bt 7% R B R & (8
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3

Financial risk management (Continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which

contain a repayment on demand clause

which can be exercised at the banks’ sole

discretion, the analysis shows the cash

outflow based on the earliest period in

which the Group can be required to pay,

that is if the lenders were to invoke their

unconditional rights to call the loans with

immediate effect.

Group
At 31st March, 2021

Borrowings

Amount due to a
purchaser of a subsidiary

Trade and bill payables

Lease liabilities

Other payables

Interest payable

At 31st March, 2020

Borrowings

Trade and bill payables
Lease liabilities

Other payables

Interest payable

58

R-ZBZ—F
=A=+-—H
&
FEAT — B A A

B 5B EIE
BOHRNERRRE

ME&EE

H fth & A5 3%
FE A 712,
R-Z-2F
=Z=R=+—H
BmE

BHENERE R
HE&E

H At & 5 5K

J& A 7 8.

e I RR N

1 75 By B 1 ()
31 MBEBREEGE
(© mBEZEREE)
A HRESRITAKER
BRTEMEREZRKEZEGRRZ
RITRE THOMEINIEAE
EHRERETNKRFHENRS
M BDBOR AT (6 H & R e
) B B g (3] B K e
Between Between
On  Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
demand 1 year years years
BE B NF-ZF NF==
ERERE LIR-F —fF iE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TET TAET
158,728 — — —
— 69,692 162,009 —
— 136,842 — —
— 5,328 1,873 23
— 23,512 — —
5,856 — — —
164,584 235,374 163,882 23
58,734 54,345 9,167 —
— 84,752 — —
— 4,893 2,361 147
— 46,011 — —
2,453 2,685 132 —
61,187 192,686 11,660 147
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3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. To manage its price
risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its

investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

At 31st March, 2021, if the prices of the
equity securities invested by the Group had
been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$151,000
(2020: HK$142,000) lower/higher.

The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
discretion of the issuer of the insurance
policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price
risk arising from these policies is

insignificant.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,

issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

e MR MR

3

Bt 7 B B E ()

3.1

3.2

Bt 7% R B R & (8
d) EEEE

AEBEFAREEMBRRNED
BRBEARBESARMCEZEK
GHEMEENRAESRRES
FEEAZERER KAEEH
HEKREHEE WEBRAES
HE M EENERER
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* o
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3

e I RR N

Financial risk management (Continued) 3 BBEBREE(E
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 BXERERE(H)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net REBAFEEHERELERAE
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt Ao ZHEELEEFER AR N AR
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as H BEFHEANARE(BERGEY
total borrowings (including current and non-current BRARFRBEORDLIFERDEE
borrowings, amount due to a purchaser of a T — B AT E 7 ERIA - ENER
subsidiary, bill payables and lease liabilities as rHEaBE)RBEesRBESEE - KA
shown in the consolidated statement of financial BREGFERNEEST BRI R PR
position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total iz e
capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group’s strategy was to maintain a net gearing AREBZEBABEFFEELETIORN
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net debt 5% AEBMEBEE_T - -—F=AH
position as at 31st March, 2021 and net cash =t—BRFEEHRRN —ZTZTF=
position as at 31st March, 2020. The net gearing R=+—AARFHREMARN KT =Z—
ratios at 31st March, 2021 and 2020 were as FR-ZZFE-_FF-A=t+—HZFEE
follows: LR
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Borrowings (Note 21) B & (ff7E21) 158,728 122,246
Amount due to a purchaser of a ER—MEBARERH
subsidiary (Note 24) SRR (M 5E24) 223,757 —
Bill payables (Note 22) FE S =% (BT 5E22) 1,094 —
Lease liabilities (Note 15) HEAE S 7,140 7,129
Total borrowings R & 48R 390,719 129,375
Less: cash and cash equivalents wmHeRESEE
(Note 20) (B 5£20) (275,047) (232,199)
Net debt/(cash) BE/GR4) %58 115,672 (102,824)
Total capital & A 4858 353,219 448,591
Net gearing ratio FREE 32.75% N/A

The net gearing ratio as at 31st March, 2021 arose
from the receipt of an amount due to a purchaser
of a subsidiary (Note 24).

- —F#=ZfA=+—HZFABLE
HUEEBEN—HBATEFHRIBEE
(Bt 5E24) °
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial

assets including cash and cash equivalents, bank

deposits, trade receivables and deposits and
financial liabilities including trade and bill
payables, other payables, short-term bank

borrowings and current amount due to a purchaser
of a subsidiary, approximate their fair values due
to their short-term maturities. The fair value of
non-current amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for

similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2021 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
Such

categorised into three levels within a fair value

used to measure fair value. inputs are

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

e MR MR

3 MHREREEE

3.3

DABEZMEE

AEBZEREE ERASEASSE
B ROER BZRERERRZES N
FeRABEREIRNERLER
HoA A 50 R 52 B AR 17 B A A e B HA e
N—HBRARERNRIE  ARFHAR
AEH - At HEEEDEA T EER
HokAHEN—HBARETREA
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2021.

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value & AR {EE A
through profit or loss BaemiE

Financial assets at fair value &2 7 BEGTA
through other Hh 2 W a5
comprehensive income TREE

The following table presents the Group’s assets that
are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2020.

Assets EE

Financial assets at fair value &2 7 BEGTA
through profit or loss BENeREE

Financial assets at fair value & AR {EER A
through other Hopth 2 1 W 2 B
comprehensive income CREE

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3

during the year.

e I RR N

3 MHREREEE

3.3 AREEZMGE (E)
TREWNAEER_ZE - —F = A
—t+—HUAREBEFENEE-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—R EZR B=H et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET FET FExT
— — 8,332 8,332
1,510 — — 1,510
TERE2EINAEBRR —TF=A

=+—H LA’AME@EJrEE’UéfE °
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— & E_M F=R et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FAET FET
— — 13,335 13,335
1,418 — — 1,418
FRNE— Fo_BRE=HFzELE

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)

@

b

(c)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of consolidated statement
of financial position. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily listed equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in

level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3 (Note 17).
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
No financial asset and financial liability is subject
to offsetting under an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar arrangement as at 31st
March, 2021 and 31st March, 2020.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In determining the value in use,
management assesses the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from
the continuing use of the asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.
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3

Bt % R MY A

1 75 By B 1 ()
34 SREEREMEBEHEEESY

RZTEZ—F=ZA=+—HRZZT=T
FZRA=+—H VESHEERDR
BESTNTARERZ B UGEM
BIR -

BE RS R K

BEt RAB GRS ETG LRBEELRRK
HtAEZ BERERABATHERAEZ

ARWREM Z IR M AIER

AEBERRKEHBARBRR EEN R
BEA(RBEER)EL)EARERERAR -
TXFHABRAKEERT YHFEREE
HEEREEAFHEARABNMGETLER -

(@ FETRMEERME
M REFRERES B REEREE
] BE EOX YR E Kﬁlmﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁ

o RREAAE SR #E TR
ﬁﬁao%éémﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬂﬁ1
ERHERAREREEZRSE

BRREBR NETEMEERS &
BEFEHABRERZEERNERSF
b EMmEMAFRERBES RN
HE-

123



124

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use which is the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the

Group’s financial position and results of operations.

As at 31st March, 2021, the Group has certain
non-financial assets, including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for
non-current assets in the eastern China segment,
southern China segment and Malaysia, amounting
to approximately HK$83,285,000, HK$288,946,000
and HK$37,825,000 respectively. The recovery of
the economic performance of the assets in eastern
China, southern China and Malaysia were slower
than expected due to global market sentiment,
intense competition and Coronavirus Disease 2019
pandemic. Management considered the above as
impairment indicators for these three cash
generating units and has performed impairment
assessments on these assets. Management has also
performed sensitivity analysis over the key
assumptions of the cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue growth rate and discount rate, in
order to assess the potential impact of a range of
possible outcomes. Details are disclosed in Note
14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are
based on current market conditions and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at

the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of trade receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions

and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Fair value of financial assets

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the quoted
price provided by counterparty to estimate the fair
values. For the fair values of financial assets not
based on observable market data, the Group would
use other valuation approaches to measure the fair
values. The methodologies, models and assumptions
used in valuing these financial assets require
judgement by management which are mainly based
on market conditions existing at each reporting
date.

e I RR N

4

B RS E R B (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

FENEHRFE
FEAERFEERSEBGHAESEN
BEFEIRARBERS - BRI
RERTHRALBERERBERLUE
mZEBRmMEL - HEAGGFHEREP
ARESEFHFERTEBAMERE
REH ERENBEREERADEN
FAh L FE A

B 5 REWERTRE
CREEZREEBERESRESRE
HEBEREAEBEBENGEE - REE®R
EHERA BREBEAEERTIESL  ™H
WA RAEEEE  NEBEERHE
LA ET bt S5 8 OB 28 A BUR /B R
B8 E2EANGEERBAZER
M3 1)K E -

ERMEENAAEE

VN ERTHSEENEREENAR
BE AEEgREBYESTEHOE
REFAEAAEE WEeREEZAR
BELHFREIBEMSHBEET A
SESeMNBEBGEERTAEEER
AREBEE-AUAFELESBEEND
ERBEEBREEZEEENESESRS
B X 2RW5% B R H g -

125



126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information

(a)

Analysis of revenue by category

Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable from customers during the year. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the

year is as follows:

e MR MR

5 WAERDZHER
(@ WARER DN
W AR R ERE KBRS E IR B A F
#ERNAEERARERNNSTOT -

2021 2020
—E-—F T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TEL
At a point in time RE-REH
Sales of packaging materials, labels HEBRMHE BER
and paper products, including MERHD BRRRER
environmental friendly paper = m
products 1,036,063 1,115,919
Others Efth 21,414 19,983
1,057,477 1,135,902

The Group has recognised the following revenue-

related contract liabilities:

Contract liabilities CR O
Contract liabilities pertain to the non-refundable
advance payment made by customers. There were

no significant changes in contract liabilities.

AEBEEEI T AR ABBOAGHE

&

2021 2020

— - —TE-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
4,904 4,646

AMBESRTIRRNESENK
AMBELEEASE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category (Continued)
The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised in the respective years related

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included F#BERE L B &4
ERRBR/EA

in the contract liability balance at

beginning of the year

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”)
of the Group has been identified as the Chairman/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has reported
the results of the operating segments based on

these reports.

The CODM of the Company considers the business
from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by
the location of major factory plants including
Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,
and assesses performance based on revenue,
operating (loss)/profit, (loss)/profit for the year,

capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

e I RR N

5

WARD

(@)

(b)

BmE R (&)

DON:$ VB¢ )
TR EMEENS
EHR AR B -

HEERNHERESE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
4,646 1,765

ARARER/ ROIRBAAEEEEE
EEREE((TEEEREE]) -G8
SEIAMEEMEREERE AL B
—BHHR2H AR AL BAERE
EENAEEY NHRE LT HEER
RORAR - ERBERERSHEE
AT EB A A -

ARAETBRERRERR/EGRLRM

B30 ARITEBENAEMLREER
BER ERLRBIE RREBEEA

gE(ER /&8 FAEBERE) &
FBRRAX AERAGBHGEDH
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5

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31st March,

2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Year ended 31st March, 2021

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers at
a point in time

Operating loss

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation

Capital expenditure

Year ended 31st March, 2020

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers at
a point in time

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation

Capital expenditure

A 2 AR 65 24
KEIERESBA

rEBR
BAE A
Fr5 A X

FABRA

HitnE# -
MBWE - BMELRE

e S
KEIEREP WA

feEE N (B 1R)

B A A

B

FE RN (5 1R)
HitnEH -

MBYE - BMERRE

e
AEARX

e MR MR

WA R EHBER (&)
(b) 7 TWER(E)
BE_FT-_-—FR-_F-_FTHF=A

ST —HRIEFEZHREENT :
Southern Eastern  South East
China China Asia Group
#E EX RED &5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAET FAET
745,174 248,085 146,703 1,139,962
(1,234) (81,251) — (82,485)
743,940 166,834 146,703 1,057,477
(48,871) (22,908) (26,934) (98,713)
15,895 177 — 16,072
9,164) (1,243) (216) (10,623)
(3,314) (1,947) — (5,261)
(45,454) (25,921) (27,150) (98,525)
78,089 5,168 856 84,113
27,335 13,888 11,643 52,866
119,243 10,934 1,162 131,339
862,649 246,402 144,158 1,253,209
(5,762) (111,545) — (117,307)
856,887 134,857 144,158 1,135,902
40,650 5,022 (18,616) 27,056
325 164 21 510
(6,504) (1,560) (297) (8,361)
(9,091) — (1,615) (10,706)
25,380 3,626 (20,507) 8,499
17,130 6,839 2,427 26,396
27,799 12,350 12,582 52,731
17,124 6,461 2,173 25,758
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Segment information (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
segment as at 31st March, 2021 and 2020 is as
follows:

As at 31st March, 2021 R-ZE-_—F
=ZA=+-—-H

Segment assets DEBEE

Segment liabilities DEEE

As at 31st March, 2020 R-Z=-2F
=ZA=+-—H

Segment assets DEBEE

Segment liabilities DEEE

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately HK$104,096,000 (2020:
HK$311,162,000) is derived from one external
customer (2020: two external customers). This
revenues is attributable to the Southern China

segment.

Rl R e R
5 BARSHEN (M)
(b) 5 EEK ()

RZBEZ—FR_Z_FTF=A=+—
ALtFEAEBZAHEERBESN
m

Southern Eastern  South East
China China Asia Group
#E #ER RED &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBT FBT FET
678,478 225,748 115,276 1,019,502
507,510 136,635 22,138 666,283
550,585 176,863 130,121 857,569
290,990 98,962 19,026 408,978

(0 EBRXEEFER

#9104,096,000%8 (= T = T F:
311,162,000/ L) WU AR B — fﬁ?l\?ﬁ
BE(ZE-ZF WMENRER) -
ZEWABRERSI -
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(d) Analysis of revenue by destination of
customer
Revenue from external customers by country, based

on the destination of the customer:

Mainland China and Hong Kong B R EE
The United States of America =H

South East Asia WEae
Europe BOM
Canada mEx
Others EHAh

(e) Analysis of non-current assets
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments

and deferred income tax assets by country:

Mainland China o
Hong Kong HE
Malaysia £S5 2k 74 38
Singapore N

e MR MR

5 WARZDHEHR(E)
d) BEFENBZWADH

SIREPIZMMREI D ZWA - RIFEP

Z B e
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
333,435 351,535
208,226 310,564
149,847 133,782
203,957 284,650
113,004 156
49,008 55,215
1,057,477 1,135,902

() FRBEEDN
BRI DERDEE ENHE/MT

BNEEMBHEE
2021 2020
— - —TE-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
363,943 262,879
8,525 12,807
37,825 43,047
4,876 5,856

415,169 324,589
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6

Other income and (losses)/gains — net 6

Net exchange (losses)/gains

Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, plant
and equipment

Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Government grants

Restructuring costs (Note)

Net gain on disposal of financial assets as
fair value through profit or loss

Written off of property, plant and equipment

Others

mEMBRRNE

Note:

In relation to the disposal of Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“Starlite
Shenzhen”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
disposal has been approved by the Shareholders on 8th April, 2020. The
Group has then commenced the relocation and restructuring plan. Total
restructuring costs paid and payable amounted to approximately
HK$89,408,000 including severance payments to employees, relocation
expenses of plant and machineries and legal fees amounted to approximately
HK$86,932,000 (Note 9), HK$1,366,000 and HK$1,110,000, respectively.
The amount was off-set by the utilisation of accrued staff welfare of
approximately HK$27,996,000 (Note 22) and recognised approximately
HK$61,412,000 in the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31st March, 2021. Further details of the disposal are set out in Note 34.

HW AR (BB Wan — FE

2021 2020

—EB-—F —ETHF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

ER (BB R FE (29,733) 6,673

HEME BELREEZ

Uk~ (E518) 10,968 (902)
BRAREBEFABZHSER

BEZANBERZFE 214 198

I T 78 B 18,115 11,413

BHER M) (61,412) —
HEZRAAEETABED

CREE I WHIFHE 635 —

EEME BERERE (3,900) —

EAh (739) 1,686

(65,852) 19,068

CEE

ARLEARBRIMEZENBRRZXNRCRINDERRA
(TEXFN]D)  ZBLHECERER - _TFMWA/N\BH]
e REEREREEERELSHENE EMREMSAE
BT R89,408,0008 T WS EMBAMIEE TEK
BB RERREREBIAREMNEDBIL R86,932,000%
7t (M 5£9) ~ 1,366,000 7T K&.1,110,000/% 0 * R EATERE T
& | # F £927,996,00078 7T LA K 85 5% 3K 8 (Fff 5£22) - SR =
T A=t HLEGFENGEKFERAER
61,412,000/ 7T ° H & M — FFHIE R M E34R R

131



132

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment benefit expense (including
directors’ emoluments and excluding
severance payment) (Note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises
(Note 15)

Provision for inventories obsolescence
(Note 18)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 14)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15)

Auditor’s remuneration

o Audit services

e Non-audit services

Legal and professional fees

Subscription fee

Provision for impairment of property, plant

and equipment (Note 14)

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution

costs, and general and administrative

expenses

e MR MR

7 BMEESZRAX

R R R H A R A

MIER

HIBERE

B E A

BTRAMMAX
(PRESHERTRIE
EEE) (M E9)

HRAYMEREREY
e (HE15)

RETFERERE
(B 5E18)

ME BERIBZINE
(M 5E14)

FREEEZE (ME15)

1% 24 RD B &

o ZH R

o JERBURF

EERBEEER

IgEA

M BE REEZRE
B (M aE14)

H Bk

HERAKN HERDHERRK

— R RITIRF X A

2021 2020

— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
471,856 498,193
64,667 53,882
18,591 14,841
31,262 31,492
345,124 360,919
1,175 2,582
9,718 4,575
46,786 47,729
6,080 5,002
3,147 3,087
836 3,277
1,480 8,245
2,057 3,397
784 —
88,332 92,412
1,091,895 1,129,633
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8  Finance income/(costs) — net 8 ®MEBEWA(HAR)— FH
2021 2020
— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Finance income & WA
Interest income on bank deposits 1T SRA B UA 1,711 510
Imputed interest income from amount due to fE{S — & A 7 B 75 M)A
a purchaser of a subsidiary (Note 24) Z A E R B ws (i 5E24) 14,361 —
16,072 510
Finance costs & B A
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITRMERN BT H (3,948) (8,025)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEABEMNBEXH (258) (336)
Imputed interest expense from amount due B — B AR E 5K HIA
to a purchaser of a subsidiary (Note 24) ZIEER S S (M 5¥24) (6,417) —
5,449 (7,851)
9  Employment benefit expense (including 9 BIEFMAX(BERESHS)
directors’ emoluments)
2021 2020
—E-—F ZTEZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FAET
Salaries, wages and allowances Fe ITENRER 302,832 309,010
Discretionary bonus BHIRE Z A 11,404 12,224
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  R{REKA — FE # 5K EHE 16,230 22,616
(Write back)/provision for long service REPBRB e RFRZ
payments and annual leave (B 4#) /B (1,463) 348
Other welfare and benefits E b8 I & A 2= 16,121 16,721
Employment benefit expense (including SEIRMAX (BIEEEMS
directors’ emoluments and excluding RAaiEEme)faE7)
severance payment) (Note 7) 345,124 360,919
Severance payment in relation to disposal of B E 2RI ERE
Starlite Shenzhen (Note 6) (Fff 5¥6) 86,932 —
432,056 360,919
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Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 13% to 19% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 7.5% to 20% of their wages, while the
group company contributes approximately 9% to 17% of
the wages of its employees. The employer’s and
employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary
wages of SGD6,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$34,070) during the year ended 31st March, 2021.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 9% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 12% to 13% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’

contributions are not subject to a cap.

e MR MR

EIGIHXX(BRESEHS) (E)

REBEABEAEIZ2MANERTEEHE
([BEeEE])  Zta AR EHALAE L
ERAEE - REBESHE  £EZAF(E
FIREREESARFAREEBAB (LR
FIMAESAEGEOIZEE) Z5%  MEE
FEBHREAZ LR A1,5008 T #BiE L
BEERET BB REERK -

REBFEESR AEERTEREEBZAF
RERBRI—ERETHALABEREB N
BRASFE BT ZHABOREAFEZ
#8%  MEBMARZHERBEHNA/EREEEAR
FEZH13%E19% - BRFEEHRTIN FERQ
ARERNERSENFHIERRERBNIL A
FREE ZEHERE SRR S F S &
BEURAREENFBERAKRERE-

WEFMBER AEERFTMEEEBZ
DRBBRRE—EEAFTNEFRAES
BETERKSFE - R%ZTE  BEERRES
e 2 H7.5%E20%  MEB Rz K58
REEBHELHN%E17%  EEXREEAMHR
ZERR-_FE-_—F=HA=+—H%FEA6,000
s (S R 4934,070%8 L) ©
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BZoRalBH-RE—EEABRARHR
AESHETRKSTE - RZ:t8  BEH
RBAETFE 2%  MEBARZHEREL
BEHFS ZWN12%E13% B REE ZHK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section

383 (1)(a) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
For year ended 31st March, 2021, the remuneration

of directors and the chief executive is set out

below:

Emoluments paid
or receivable

in respect of a
person’s services
as a director,
whether of the
Company or its

e I RR N

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

THEERRIEREB(RAEINE22E)E
383N@ENKF - RAF(HEEEFNZER)
RO (F622CRE)E-_REMOSHBREE LT
RAMAIES -

@ EBErITRZHME
EELNHTRAE T - —F=A
Zt—RALFEZBEOT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other

subsidiary services in connection with the management of the affairs, whether
undertaking of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAERES
(FHREADA
HEME R AL
E)mi fi%fi;ﬂ
g‘g—ﬁ%g;% RESEUANER (FRREATRENBEAR)
REERE MK ERNEMRE XN TFTRESHEHH -
g REEE RS R LR Y
Employer’s
Allowances, contribution
other toa
payment retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name of Director BEnA Fees Salaries bonus i;[lﬂlﬁi—eu scheme Total
AL
BHRREZ HMHER BRABRG
e Fe AL BYUNE BEZMX ast
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET Tz FTET T TRz FTET
For the year ended —2--%=A
31st March, 2021 =+-HLEEFE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu AT 150 4,147 355 540 78 5,270
Mr. Tin Shing M k£ 150 1,527 130 — 37 1,844
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching EEB LA 150 2,276 195 — 57 2,678
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRLL 150 — — — — 150
Independent Non-Executive BYFHITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, BRIE &
Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, PE - g LF -
Larry, s, jp AF#L 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B IF % & 200 — — — — 200
1,200 7,950 680 540 172 10,542
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior
executives (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

Emoluments paid
or receivable

in respect of a
person’s services
as a director,
whether of the
Company or its

e MR MR

10 EERERTRAERZANERES
(&)

(@)

EERITRZHME (B)

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other

subsidiary services in connection with the management of the affairs, whether
undertaking of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HREAERES
(TR
of it & 22 & 69
BR)MEED
R - X F &
BRIZEFA REEREFBER(THEARALAMBEAR)
B S R i EBMEMBYE XN TFTREEHHH -
R B sk 7% B = 0] 3t 3% 5 R S 0 WER ) A
Employer’s
Allowances, contribution
other to a
payment  retirement
Discretionary and benefits benefit
Name of Director BEME Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
AR
BRREZ HtHER RABHME
e e A EYFE BEIHET #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TR FAT TR FET TR TR
For the year ended —E-Z£=H
31st March, 2020 =t+-HLEFE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu A 150 4,264 355 540 81 5,390
Mr. Tin Shing £ 150 1,560 114 — 37 1,861
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & BIH 5t 4 150 2,340 155 — 60 2,705
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRLLT 150 - — — — 150
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus B L4 150 — — — — 150
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, REMEE
Charles 150 — — — — 150
Independent Non- BYFHTES
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, RMHEE
Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, — ZPHifE - #m 2% -
Larry, SBS, JP APt 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, EBIELE
Kenny 200 — — — — 200
1,500 8,164 624 540 178 11,006
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid or
receivables in respect of accepting office as
directors (2020: Nil), and no directors waived any

emolument (2020: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the other directors of the Group received
or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits in respect of their services to
the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2021

(2020: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2020:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company in favour of
the directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the
directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2020: Nil).

e I RR N

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(#&)
(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ESRITRZHME (B)

FALTEREZEETRLM S T HE
WHHME(ZZ_TF: %) RIE
EEMEEAFN (T _FF:FT)-

MAMEEMBARRRNITR - Ll
BEZHNE TR ESRITRZMNE

EECRRBEARBERER

HE-_TE-_—F=-A=+—BLFE
N BEAQNREEREAANE@RHE
AR 7% B W ER sk 4 U B S B A ] 3R AR AR
KEHEBEN(CE_2F:T)-

RENEERBMEE=STXT2Z
RAE

F - AREBRREREERBAL
AMAEARE=Z S X HRECE-S
%)

FTHRESKRZESNIEHNEE
FEEERITYNEN EEXR
HthX % 2&H®

FEEMERAARREETREETNRE
BAE M EER SRS AMa] LRF
RAFREAERDAFENER %
ERFEMRZG(ZE_TF:F) -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(e)

U]

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period or at any time during the year (2020:

Nil).

Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive

Directors (2020: three) whose emoluments are

e MR MR

10 EERERTRAERZANERES

(&)

() EEBERXRZ RPIASHZEK
&
MERANEEXBILARRRBEFRE]
DNETRARFESERXIWEREEXN
BmmNERKXFARETMERDAEE
MEARS RHERAH(ZT_F4F:
£) -

H HEUBSHFEAL
AEEIUKSHFALH  ZL AT
EF(CZ-2F: D) AME®RR
bEiey s ENHENBTAZ

reflected in the analysis presented above. The MewmT
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining two
individuals were as follows:
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Basic salaries and allowances EXE e RER 1,864 1,832
Pension costs-defined contribution RREA — REH-RRETE
plans 64 55
1,928 1,887

During the year ended 31st March, 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2020: Nil).

RZE-——FZA=Z+—HBLEFER"
BEnAWESIEaHToAMALTS
NMEEABBEMARNER 2 B K
EREREABUZEE(ZE S F
) o
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

11

executives (Continued)

(g The emoluments fell within the following

bands:
Number of individuals
AE
2021 2020
—E- - _—ZT_TF
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,001/%8 7t 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T 1,500,000/ JT 1 1

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British

Virgin Islands income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

for the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25%
during the year (2020: 25%).

e BERRME 139

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES
(&)
(® ¥FHZRASHEZY :

11 FiB#HEAX
ADNRERCAMERERE BE -2
SHFAIL ARAREBEBABRER Y
MEMBLARNDBREEBEBRES ER:
BAREEMAKT At BREMREBE
BABEFER -

BEBEF BB A LR165%(Z T = F F:
B
EHRERYREEZHBLARRAFEEAIR

25% (Z T ZFF 1 25% )M EHMP B HE
Fris®i -
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11

mEMBRRNE

Income tax expense (Continued) 11 FRrEHEHX (&)
The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia RETINE R B R DKL 2 M B R T D 5RR
are subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate MR EEREHRREI7%B (T _FF:
of 17% (2020: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax 17%) R ERETEEMBHB E24% (ZF
at a rate of 24% (2020: 24%) respectively. TEE 24%) B -
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated RiFARaRZPHRORESERE
income statement represents:
2021 2020
—B-—-F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT TET
Current income tax expense BUER P15 B0 B 2
— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BEMNEH 349 5,392
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — PREPEMEH 4,655 3,672
Under provision in prior years BEFEEETR — 175
Withholding tax on dividend declared RHPBEREANETRRKRERTE
in the PRC BB 4,187 —
9,191 9,239
Deferred income tax (Note 23) iR E P18 R (B 5E23) (3,930) 1,467
Income tax expense FTi5#i 5 X 5,261 10,706
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11

Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax AEBMZBRBA(ER),GFFEHEHR
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using BARAEERR (BB, & F 2 gy
the weighted average tax rate applicable to (loss)/profit of MEAEZEBRSBEEAMER  HHKRNAT :

the consolidated entities as follows:

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in other countries/jurisdictions

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Tax benefits

Tax losses and other temporary differences
for which no deferred income tax was
recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax

losses (4,823) (4,191)
Under provision in prior years BEFEBRBEIR — 175
Withholding tax on undistributed profit of A R [ & BT B8 X )R 99 R

those subsidiaries in Mainland China A TER B 327 67
Income tax expense T X 5,261 10,706
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 32% (2020: BRAZMEFATR R/ (ZEZTF:
12.2%). The change in average tax rate is mainly caused 122%)  FHRENBETIEITHNER LR
by changes in the operating results of certain subsidiaries ERETHBARCEXENEETMEN -

in Southern China and Eastern China.

11 FREBMAX (&)

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZE-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FETT

K& AT (E518) % A (93,264) 19,205

B E16.5%(ZT T F :

16.5% )T E M FTIS L (15,389) 3,169
EHBRAREMER

AEEREENTRER

-2 (14,404) (831)
mARBA (12,595) (7,085)
IR 30,976 10,061
HBER (1,195) (1,171)
MBEREREMNERERE

EZARERBIEMBH

22,364 10,512

ERAERER 2 E R
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12 (Losses)/earnings per share
Basic
Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the Group’s (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the
Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue ("000)

Basic (losses)/earnings per share (HK cents)

Diluted

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2021
and 31st March, 2020, diluted (losses)/earnings per share
equals basic (losses)/earnings per share as there were no
dilutive potential shares.

13 Dividends
The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2021
(2020: final dividend of HK1 cent and special dividend of

HK5 cents per ordinary share).

No interim dividend was paid for the six months ended
30th September, 2020 (30th September, 2019: Nil).

FREX(BE) /BB

e MR MR

12 BR(ER) &F

RAFER ANESL
(E18) & Fl (FET)
EETEERZ
IHE T 19 8 (F %)

HAR
BERERNBRER) AT ET§¢W$ATT’?&%—
/\FEEZJSE@(EE?E)/@?' LB BITE
&z miEFHETE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
(98,525) 8,499
525,135 525,135
(18.76) 1.62

e

lﬁx%/‘ﬁ(ﬁﬂa)/”ﬁ TR T B ] R
B R EE R 1& KABRDRITLRE

HXZDD%TFY']%Z* - T —F=AH

=t+—BARkR=ZZE=-ZEF=RA=t+—RHLFE"

GRS (EE) BRANESRERER(FER)

S BF - B A SR EERG -

13 KRE
EFega I REBE_ZT-_—F=A
=t+—REFEZRERE(CZE-_ZEF X
HREBREE I RENRESEREED
i) -

VEREBE T _ZEFAA=THILXE

AZr RS (CE-AFAA=TR:FT)-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14

Property, plant and equipment

e I RR N

14 ¥ -BERRE

At 31st March, 2019 RZB-1&

=A=+—-8
Cost KA
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  ZF 1 & R A
Net book amount REFE

Year ended 31st March, 2020

HE-T-ZF

ZA=+-BLEFE
Opening net book amount FOEEFE
Change in accounting policy EHHEES
Restated EX]
Additions NE
Depreciation i
Disposals HE
Transfers Bz
Translation adjustments EXHE
Closing net book amount FREBFE
At 31st March, 2020 RZZ-2F
ZA=+—-H
Cost AR
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 4T & R {E
Net book amount HEFE
Year ended 31st March, 2021 HE-T-—F
ZAZT-HLEEE
Opening net book amount FOEEFE
Additions RNE
Depreciation e
Disposals HE
Write-off i
Transfers

Provision for impairment
Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount FREEFE
At 31st March, 2021 R-BZ-F

ZA=+-4
Cost AR
Accumulated depreciation and impairment &t & R
Net book amount HHFE

Plant and Furniture and Motor  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles  in progress Total
BF BE BRARRE AE HRIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET AT AT FET
281,745 1,001,908 94,492 18,254 3,921 1,400,320
(119,436) (861,632) (68,977) (13,158) — (1,063,203)
162,309 140,276 25,515 5,096 3,921 337,117
162,309 140,276 25,515 5,096 3,921 337,117
(7,754) — — — (7,754)
154,555 140,276 25,515 5,096 3,921 329,363
454 17,689 2,569 736 4,948 26,396
(9,302) (29,379) (7,527) (1,521) — (47,729)
(629) (462) (73) (167) 9) (1,340
— 4,359 — (4,359) —
(7,626) (7,694) (1,012) (125) (401) (16,858)
137,452 124,789 19,472 4,019 4,100 289,832
257,230 988,957 92,944 17,109 4,100 1,360,340
(119,778) (864,168) (73,472) (13,090) — (1,070,508)
137,452 124,789 19,472 4,019 4,100 289,832
137,452 124,789 19,472 4,019 4,100 289,832
419 22,156 4,819 141 56,578 84,113
9,158) (28,750) (7,602) (1,276) — (46,786)
(428) (6,261) (1,222) (245) — (8,156)
(1,097) (2,803) — - — (3,900)
— 1,680 463 - (2,143) —
— (784) — — — (784)
8,267 7,806 503 77 2,277 18,776
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
270,662 872,317 93,940 15,918 60,812 1,313,649
(135,207) (754,484) (77,507) (13,356) — (980,554)
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Depreciation expense recognised in the

e MR MR

14 W% BERSKEGE
@ REARSRFERZTENL ST

consolidated income statement is analysed as W
follows:

2021 2020
—EZ—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TAET
Cost of sales $HE KA 39,598 39,950
Selling and distribution costs HERDHE D 325 309
General and administrative expenses —RRATHER X 6,863 7,470
46,786 47,729

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

At 31st March, 2021, buildings with a total net
book value of approximately HK$43,268,000 (2020:
HK$3,013,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s banking facilities (Note 30).

Impairment
equipment,
prepayments for non-current assets

of property, plant and
right-of-use assets and

The value of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and prepayments for non-current
assets is assessed at the end of each reporting
period for indications of impairment with reference
to evaluation undertaken by management. Such
evaluation assesses the recoverable amount of each
asset being the higher of its value in use or its fair
value less costs of disposal. As at 31st March,
2021, management performed three separate
impairment assessments for the eastern China
operation, southern China operation and Malaysia

operation.

(b) HERIRIBEATEREZPOEE R
MAEBFMLEPAHES -

) R-ZE-_—F-—A=-+—HEE®EFE
49 543,268,000 THIEF(ZT T
4 :3,013,0008 7T) BIEREEIRITE
B2 MBI (K 5E30) ©

d) VX -BERRE ERAEEEUN
RFRBEEZENRZREE

ME BELEE ERAEEENRIFE
MBEELANRZEBERSRELER
A2EEREMETZHENIEES
BMETR - BRAFEFHESEEZATR
CEE MEERAEERERIAEBER
HEXREAZzESE - R_E-—F=H
=t—H BEEEBORNMERER E
MEBMBRAEEBETHENDE -
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment
equipment,

of property, plant and
right-of-use assets and
prepayments for
(Continued)

Eastern China operation
As at 31st March, 2021, the carrying amount of the

non-current assets

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in eastern
China operation (“eastern China PP&E and right-of-
use assets”) was approximately HK$83,285,000
(2020: HK$78,658,000). No impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2021
(2020: Nil).

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of eastern China PP&E and right-of-use

assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2021: 2%
Sales growth rate from 2022 to 2026: 5%
Pre-tax discount rate: 14%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2021, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$13,297,000

Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the

been lower.
carrying amount of eastern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$11,728,000.

e I RR N

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RERBEE ZEMNKZREE(H)

HEREK

RZB-—F=ZA=+—B EREK
Z2WE - BMEREBEBE FRAEEENUR
IRBEEZENRTERZWE K
EREzHBURFERAEEEDA
83,285,000 T(—-— & — T F:
78,658,000 ;L) R Z T = —F = A
ST BLFETEBRIARESE(Z

T_FE ).

FEEERME - BB R R EIA N E R E
BEZAWEIBEMERZ EZ2/|EM
T~

ZE I —FIHEEREK: 2%

—EIFEFRFZ 5%
HEER K

R 8 AT AL 2R =K 14%

NEERENTHRERTERZMA
EREMBZ(BEREE RSB 2
REBB)AARNBEEATREEE R
T F=ZA=-+-—H HEFEZ
HEMREREBRE ZHEKI%M A
EHMEERSETE  BIERME K
EREBUAREAREEZFERERK
A 13,297,0005%8 7T o A It 0 B E R Y
¥ BERESBUARERAEEAEZE®R
B 28 RERH11,728,000% 7T ©
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment
equipment,

of property, plant and
right-of-use assets and
prepayments for
(Continued)

Eastern China operation (Continued)

non-current assets

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
been HK$11,694,000

shortfall compared with the carrying amount of

lower. Accordingly, the

eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$10,125,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2021 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$7,410,000 lower. Accordingly, the
shortfall compared with the carrying amount of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$5,841,000.

Southern China operation

As at 3Tst March, 2021, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in southern
China operation (“southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets”) was approximately HK$288,946,000
(2020: HK$195,291,000). No impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2021
(2020: Nil).

e MR MR

14 M%¥- -BERRE(E)

(d)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2EMN R ZRE(H)

HEREK ()
WFHNERERRE 2 HE ST FE5%
METEEMERRIFTAE  BZERY
¥ BELEZBULTEREEEZEA
& 3 % " 211,694,000 7T - A it - £
ERME BERLEUREREEE
ZEREEML 2B R A10,125,000
I e

MR EREBENR T -_—F=A
=t+—HBZHBER1%MmATA E 8
RETE AERDE BEREHEU
LERAREEZFREBERD
7,410,000/ 7T o A It - B E R Y ¥ - K
EREBARERAEEEZREEMEL
2 5 REE S A5,841,000 7T ©

BEHEK

R-FBE-—F=ZA=+—"H FTEHEX
ZWE - BEREE FABEEUAR
ERBEEZENR(EBZUVE K
FEREHEARFEREAEEDR
288,946,000 (= T = T F:
195,291,000 T) R = —F = A
S+ —HALEFEYEBERREEE(Z

ToTFT)-
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment
equipment,

of property, plant and
right-of-use assets and
prepayments for
(Continued)

Southern China operation (Continued)

non-current assets

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the southern China PP&E and right-of-

use assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate in 2021: 3%
Sales growth rate from 2022 to 2026: 5.8%
Pre-tax discount rate: 14%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2021, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$53,463,000 lower.
Accordingly, the headroom compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$35,123,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2021 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$30,534,000 lower.
Accordingly, the headroom compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately

HK$58,052,000.

e I RR N

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RERBEE ZEMNKZREE(H)

EFHEKE (F)

FEEERYE BB KRB RSP E
BEZAWEEBEEMREA EFEZREZNM
T

:%:—iZiﬁ%iﬁﬁr 3%

- TEC-REZ 5.8%
ﬁﬁ%iﬁz-

BREBIATAE IR & - 14%

WEERERTMAERTER 2R
ERHEMBR(BRERSREEN 218
RERB)AKRNBZEAIWOERB- R
—E-—F=ZA=1+—H WEEEZ
HERREXREEE Z2MERKI%M A
EHMEBERETE REMYE K
EREBARERAEEEZFERERK
W 53,463,000 7T o A It - B Z=E Y
¥ BEALEBEULERAEEEZRE
B B#% K A35,123,0007 5T °

MR ERERBRER TS =-—F=A
T+ —BZHBERI%MmATE
WEAE - AERYE BERREN
LERABEEEZFREBHER D
30,534,000/ 7T o @& I - L EE F Y -
BEREHEAREREEE ZREEM
Lt 2 Z 8 #% 558,052,000/ IT °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment
equipment,

of property, plant and
right-of-use assets and
prepayments for
(Continued)

Southern China operation (Continued)

non-current assets

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$36,111,000 lower.
Accordingly, the headroom compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately

HK$52,475,000.

Malaysia operation

As at 31st March, 2021, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in Malaysia
operation (“Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets”)
was approximately HK$37,825,000 (2020:
HK$42,842,000). Impairment loss of approximately
of HK$784,000 was recognised for the year ended
31st March, 2021 (2020: Nil) (Note 7).

Market approach was applied in assessing the
recoverable amount of the Malaysia operation
PP&E and right-of-use assets. Based on the fair
value less cost of disposal in arriving the

recoverable amount, Impairment loss of
approximately of HK$784,000 was recognised for

the year ended 31st March, 2021 (2020: Nil).

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets are as follows:

Right-of-use assets and buildings: Market approach
was adopted by comparing the recent sales of
similar properties in the vicinity or within similar
localities.

Plant and machineries: Market approach was
adopted with reference to the price quoted in the

second-hand markets.

e MR MR

14 M%¥- -BERRE(E)

(d)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2EMN R ZRE(H)

HEHEK ()
WFHNERERRE 2 HE ST FE5%
METEEMERRIFTAE  BEREY
¥ BELEZBULTEREEEZEA
& 8 % " 236,111,000 7T - A 1t - 8
EENE BERLEUREREEE
Z BRE BB 2 88 /52,475,000
5T o

- YiE Y
RZZT-—F=A=+—B EXAE:
XB2ME - BEREE THELAE
LRFRBEEZBNR(HRAELZ
ME - BMELRBULFERAEEED R
37,825,000 (= T — T fF:
42,842,0008 L) KT = —F = A
=+ — B 1L F [Z % 38784,0007% 7T & A
EE(CZZZ2F  Z)(ME7) -

ERMG A EAATEERELEB 2
¥ BELALEBEUALERAEEEN TR
BIEE - RIE A2 EEREE KA
BakEEE R_ZTE=—F=A
=+ — H L F E #33784,000% 7T R B

BR(ZF-FF:%F)-

AHEBRAEME  BE KR E A RE
RREEZAKREEEMERZEER
R

ERREERET  BATSHHIALR
BT s 7 B AR R MR L) 2 R0 AT B AR 2

TR B5 B #E 25
BHIRE -

EATS A2 E-Fh
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15

Lease

This note provides information for leases where the

Group is a lessee.

(0]

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position

shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets EREEE

Land use rights* 4 3 156 A A

Leasehold land* FAE L

Buildings R

Equipment B

Lease liabilities HEAEE

Current mE

Non-current M ED

* The Group has land lease arrangement with Mainland
China government and leasehold land in Hong Kong and

Malaysia.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2021

financial year were HK$5,038,000 (2020:

HK$6,977,000).

e I RR N

15 #HE
WM IR HAEEESEBANAEEN -

() REEHMBERRRBINEE

RIEFAUBRRAREZIEHEENS R

W
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBx FiHBT
19,170 18,621
7,192 7,202
6,940 6,832
35 42
33,337 32,697
5,255 4,671
1,885 2,458
7,140 7,129
. AEEEFERFETAEORE  BR

EERBRALHBEHRELM -

RZEBE-Z—FUREFEE - FEERE
& E /5,038,000 T(Z T = T F:
6,977,000/ 7T) °
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15

Lease (Continued)

(i)

e MR MR

15 #HE (&)
RESKRBRBERANEE

Amounts recognised in the consolidated

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the

following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets

Land use rights

Leasehold land

Buildings

Equipment

Interest expense
(included in finance costs)

Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in cost of goods sold and

administrative expenses)

CEREEEMNRE

T A
HE L
BF
Bdi

8 X
GTAREKAE)
BHEHBEENRX

(i)

RiFaREXR2JERBEENSENT

(G A ERA RITHFX)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was
approximately HK$6,606,000 (2020: HK$6,706,000).

Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets

Cost of sales

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

ERAEEENRE

& B
HERDHER
— R RATIRA X

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
787 737

209 210

5,075 4,051

9 4

6,080 5,002

258 336

1,175 2,582

RZBE-Z—FR HEMNReRLERE
%) 56,606,000 t(= T = T F:

6,706,000/ 7T) ©

2021 2020

— - —TE-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
2,993 2,331

351 —

2,736 2,671

6,080 5,002
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15

Lease (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

At 31st Match, 2021, leasehold land with a total
net book value of approximately HK$2,026,000
(2020: HK$2,229,000) were pledged as collateral

for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 30).

The Group’s leasing activities and how

these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, factory buildings
and warehouses. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years, but may

have extension options as described in (v) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property leases across the Group.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by

the Group and not by the respective lessor.

ma

15

Bt % R MY A

HE (&)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

m:%:—izﬁf+—aﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ
49 /52,026,000 THHAE L (ZF

T F 12,229,000 7T) A MEZK;‘%@%E 17
EE R 2 W B (K 30) -

FAEENHEEEBREARG E

AEBBRAZERELE BELRRE
HEAHNBEREERY AME=F

AE EWREES TXWMMMEER
BiEEE-

HEGRIZERNER B2 EZTRN
PRI AR © BR ﬁ%ﬁ)\h*ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%é%
ZHEREE SN HEE T NE [ R

H-HEEETSREGRER-

EERAIERERE

AEEEZNMENHERSRERK
LHHERERE  UEREELEMAN
EEEBTHEKADMRESELNES

Mo RBOTEBERKTTHERZERRT
AR AEETE  MILEEEOEEA -
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152 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS e M BEHRRMEE
16 Subsidiaries 16 KELF
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, RZZEZ—F=ZA=+—HB FTEWBAQA
2021: =3
Issued and
fully paid
Place of incorporation capital/paid-in  Percentage of equity
Name of company and/or operations capital interest held Principal activities
BRTK
HEMRIR BERE/
DRER REXKE BARE FiEREBD L TEXH
Directly  Indirectly
BE CF:
Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd. British Virgin Islands us$2 100% — Investment holding
EEERARES Ve BEER
Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Cook Islands US$200 100% — Investment holding
Limited
MriEs 200%E 7T REZER
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD8,759,396 100% — Printing of packaging
materials
M 8,759,396 BEMELER
N T
Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM6,500,000 100% — Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products
5 R 2 6,500,000 BEMEER R
BRAEETT HmEE
Everfar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000 50% 50% Investment holding
KBEBRRS 20,0003 7T RERK
Starlite Visual Communication Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 — 100% Distribution of Team
Green Products
ENRGRREBFRAA & 2,000,0007% 7T 7 $4Team GreenZE i
Hong Kong Inno-Tech Association Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100% Inactive
ERRERRBEERAA BB 28T (G 3=
Starlite Consumer Products, Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 — 100% Investment holding
ERERRES IE REER
Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 — 100% Investment holding
ERERRES E REER
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

AREH

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited

EEGHACHRAF

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy
Limited

Starlite Development International Limited
EXEREFARAA

Starlite Cultural Communications Limited

EXAXEFEARAT

Starlite Paper Products Limited

ERBERAERAF

Place of incorporation
and/or operations

HEMRIR,
REEBH

Hong Kong

i

Hong Kong

)

British Virgin Islands
KBEBRES
Hong Kong

0

Hong Kong
EB

Hong Kong/the PRC

B/ PHE

e M BRRME

16 MEBRAT (&)

Issued and
fully paid
capital/paid-in
capital
BRITR
BERRE/
BARK

HK$3,230,000
ordinary
3,230,000/ 7T
LB 1D

HK$170,000
non-voting
deferred (i)

170,000/ 7T
mR R
B TERL 1 (i)

HK$200
20078 7T
Uss$1
1%
HK$200
2007 7T

HK$2
28T

HK$1,738,000

ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T
Eili0)

HK$262,000
non-voting
deferred (i)

262,000 7T
mR R
B IERR 1 (i)

Percentage of equity
interest held

s R 2
Directly  Indirectly
HE LE:
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
— 100%
100% —
— 100%

Principal activities

ETRER

Inactive

RAEE

Provision of management
services

REEERY

Holding of trade and
service marks

FEEIRBREHE
Trading of paper
products

REHARES

Inactive

AR

Inactive

AR
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

AREH

Starlite Printers Limited

EXHRIBRAF

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited
Starlite Printers (China) Limited
EXEDRI(FE)BRAE

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (ii) (iv)

B EDRICRIN BB 2B (iv)

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

2 ENRI (B M) B IR A R (i)

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited

EREEERAF

Place of incorporation
and/or operations

HEMRIR,
E3-F 3.1

Hong Kong

i

British Virgin Islands
EEABREE

British Virgin Islands
EEABREE

The PRC

I

The PRC

FE
British Virgin Islands
KBRBRES

British Virgin Islands
KBRBRES

Hong Kong
B

mEMBRRNE

16 K E2QR (&)

Issued and
fully paid
capital/paid-in
capital
BRITR
#BERE
BARE

HK$2,700,000

ordinary
2,700,000/ 7T
EmRMRAN

HK$2,300,000

non-voting

deferred (i)
2,300,000/ 7T
BREE

B TERL 1 (i)

Us$1
1%

US$100
100 7T

US$8,000,000

8,000,0003 7T

US$20,000,000

20,000,000 7T
US$1
IE

US$256,420
256,4203 7T

HK$3,000,000
3,000,000/ 7T

Percentage of equity
interest held

s R 2
Directly  Indirectly
HE EF:3

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

FTRER

Trading of packaging
materials

BENKES

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMBENR R
BmEE

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products and labels

AR B ENRI R A& R
BRHEE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Inactive

A ER
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16

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

AREH

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited (ii)

BN E SRRSO ER R B

Greenworks International Limited

BEIREEERAR

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited (i)

BARERIEIEER LA

Larsemann Intelligence System (Hong Kong)
Limited
A EBRAS(FE)ERAT

Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System

(Shenzhen) Limited (ii)

BB 2 8 8 R4 ORI B IR 2 &G

Place of incorporation
and/or operations

HEMRIR,
RE I

The PRC

el

Hong Kong

0

The PRC

FE

Hong Kong
B
Singapore

T

The PRC

i E

mEMBRRNE

16 M E2LQR (&)

Issued and
fully paid
capital/paid-in
capital
BRITR
#BERE
BARE

US$6,000,000

6,000,000 7T

HK$2

27T

US$16,500,000

16,500,0003 7T

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T
SGD10,000

10,000
T

RMB5,000,000

5,000,000 A & #

Percentage of equity
interest held

FiEREE DL

Directly
HE

Indirectly
EF:3

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

FTRER

Production of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

EERRR
H B ER

Investment holding and
trading of
environmental friendly
and other paper

products
REZRERRREAM
FEEMEH

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMBEDR K
HamiEE

Investment holding
REAZR

Trading of Team Green

products
Team GreenfE % 5

Trading and
manufacturing of
machinery and
automated equipment

EERMERS
REBLRE
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16 Subsidiaries (Continued) 16 MEA R (&)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of incorporation capital/paid-in  Percentage of equity
Name of company and/or operations capital interest held Principal activities
BRITR
EMRIR, #BERE
NAER R EE BARE FEREE D FTEEH
Directly  Indirectly
HE %
Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design Co.,  The PRC RMB1,500,000 — 100% Trading of Team Green
Ltd (ii) products
RN 4% BRI E R ET B R A G FE 1,500,000 A & ¥ Team GreenEm Z 5
Team Green (Shanghai) Company Limited The PRC RMB1,000,000 — 100% Trading of Team Green
(ii) products
LAGEAERARRA T 1,000,000A R ¥ Team GreenZE i & %
Suzhou Team Green Home Products The PRC RMB5,000,000 — 100% Productions of Team
Limited (ii) Green products
BN BRBHER AR H 5,000,000A & # Team GreenfE i £
Notes: BT
(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These (i) IEBERERBEROYFAREEAS - LER
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless MY BKER - BRFEBFBRAAR ZMFEBR
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000 50,000,000,000 7T * BRI B AEEZHRE W
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a BRMARERE  TERZEEMSR RIFFHEA
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant )[R 38 AR AR BB AR 2 9 R 2 5150,000,000,00078 7T ©

company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

(ii) English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were (ii) HYEZBRAEJBIAE WSEHWBATARREKIL
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC. ZHONEBECE (I EBERE] -

(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time (iii) MEMBARRBE-_T-_—F=A=1+—81L%F
during the year ended 31st March, 2021 (2020: Nil). ERATMEEOEEETEEEAR (T _TF &) -

(iv) On 21st February, 2020, the Group has entered into an equity (iv) RZZTZZTF_A=-+—B AEEE-UBIH
transfer agreement (the “Equity Transfer Agreement”) with an ZEHFUTEFDATL—HREEE D (REEED
independent third party (the “Purchaser”) for sale of the equity B HERMBEARNRAERZ  FEBL2EWE

interests in this subsidiary. Please refer to Note 34 for details. 34
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17

e I RR N

Financial assets at fair value through other 17 RAAKBEFAHEHGZERENE
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and BMEERERAAEBESTAEEZENE
financial assets at fair value through profit or MEE
loss (“FVPL”)
(@ FVOCI: @ BARBEFAHGZERENS
AEE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Financial instruments (level 1): SMITAE(E—H)
— Equity securities listed in — REBLTHER
Hong Kong & 5 1,510 1,418
Movement of FVOCI is analysed as follows: BRARBEFARMEENGSOHSHE
EZEBHHTMT:
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEZFTHF
HK$/000 HK$'000
FERT FET
At beginning of the year ] 1,418 2,005
Fair value gains/(losses) on FVOCI BAREEFT AR D 2ER
EHWAREERS (B 92 (587)
At end of the year FR 1,510 1,418

The listed equity securities is denominated in Hong

Kong dollar.

ThEEEFLNETIE -
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17  Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)

e MR MR

17 BARBEFAHGLZAWRENS
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
BMEE (&)

(b) FVPL: by EBAABEFABRSENEHMEE:
2021 2020
—E-—-F —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Financial instruments (level 3): EMITAE(E=H)
— Unlisted insurance policy — kT ZRIRIRE
investment ®E& 8,332 13,335
Movement of FVPL is analysed as follows: BRAREBEFAERNEREECE
DT
2021 2020
—E-—F TE-ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
At beginning of the year F 9] 13,335 13,137
Disposals HE (5,217) —
Fair value gains on FVPL BARBEFABEROAR
EEKR 214 198
At end of the year FR 8,332 13,335
Note: i

The unlisted insurance policy investment is denominated in United
States dollars.

The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment are based on
cash flows discounted using a rate based on the current credit rate
of the insurance policies (2021: 4.1%; 2020: 4.1%). The fair values
are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

As at 31st March 2021, there were charges over certain of the
Group’s FVPL of approximately HK$3,769,000 (2020: HK$8,905,000)
(Note 30).

FETZRERBIBEAUERITIIE -

FETHRBRERENAABEARKARRBRRE
WEREAREUABHBRS R (22 —F:
41%: ZETF A1) AABEREARIABER
BRNE=RBIME33) -

RZB-—5=ZA=+—BAEHEROTERIR
BEFABRNEMEELS 769,000 T(ZE-F
£+ 8,905,000/ 7T) (KT 7£30) ©
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18

Inventories

Raw materials JR A #
Work in progress 8
Finished goods 2K

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$471,856,000 (2020:
HK$498,193,000). During the vyear, the Group has
provided for inventories obsolescence of approximately
HK$9,718,000 (2020: HK$4,575,000), which was included
in cost of sales and as at 31st March, 2021, the amount
of provision was approximately HK$33,096,000 (2020:
HK$22,441,000).

As at 3Tst March, 2021, there were floating charges over
certain of the Group’s inventories of approximately
HK$4,218,000 (2020: HK$4,591,000) to secure the trust

receipts import bank loan arrangements (Note 30).

e I RR N

EE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
41,232 58,286
24,949 17,080
37,958 31,723
104,139 107,089

TFERAA H%471,856,0008 T(Z T - %
£ : 498,193,000/% 7T) 51| 1E 7 X 7 51 A 88 & K
AP o RAFERN AEESBSTFERERE
#99,718,0007% ;L (= T = T F : 4,575,000/
) WEBREEIABERAFT R = —
F=A=1T—H"  BEHTAH33,096,0007% T
(ZZ =T : 22,441,000 7C) °

R-ZZE-_—F=A=+—HB A&EBHE
4,218,000/ jT (= T — T 4 : 4,591,000/8 7T)
ZIEERERARBEORTERLEEAE
7 (FF5E30) ©
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19

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

deposits

®BE

e MR MR

19 BEZRUERRERE BAARER

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 ERER 191,130 167,332
Less: loss allowance B BT (11,568) (12,810)
Trade receivables — net BZRKER — F8 179,562 154,522
Bill receivables JE U 22 4% 109 —
Trade and bill receivables B RBERREE 179,671 154,522
Prepayments and deposits BNRERES 78,409 23,519
258,080 178,041
Less: Non-current portion: W SERNERER Y ¢
Prepayments for non-current assets FERBEEENK (48,737) (1,511)
Deposits re — (549)
209,343 175,981
The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables, BIREBERRZE BNRERRENE
prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values. EENHEREAREE-
The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally SEETEEEEHR —RRBIOKRE120RT
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill E-EH5RUERERRBZREZERH)
receivables by invoice date is as follows: s

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

1E90K

91E180K
181E365K
B iB365K

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
147,990 125,449
30,837 29,428

819 923

11,593 11,532
191,239 167,332
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19

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

deposits (Continued)

The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated

in the following currencies:

HK$
Us$
RMB
SGD
RM
Others

BT

ETT
ARY
N T
BREET
Hits

Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are

as follows:

As beginning of the year

Decrease in loss allowance of trade
receivables

Receivables written off during the year as
uncollectible

Translation adjustment

As end of the year

F40

e I RR N

19 BEZRUERRERE BAARER

®E (&)

AEEZE S RBIERERBEAT I ERIIE

B 5 I8 MR R IR R

F AR E 2 AR R

at 8
BB

FR

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to

measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime

expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The

detailed impairment approach is summarised in Note

3.1(b).

The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits do not contain loss allowance.

2021 2020
— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
28,031 22,607
110,864 100,670
31,022 23,370
6,953 6,102
8,002 6,334
6,367 8,249
191,239 167,332
EoRBEREERE2ZHOT
2021 2020
—E=—F ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
12,810 15,322
(1,557) (1,719)
— (285)
315 (508)
11,568 12,810

AEBEREEVHRELERFESR 2B
EBER S EWRRIG AKAEYRER
BEzIANUFERACGEEE RES A

ZHE BERME3 bR -

REZEKERFR BNRBEALZSTHEM

BRI B S EEEE -
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19

20

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 19

deposits (Continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting

date is the fair value of each class of receivables

mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.

Bank balances and cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months

from date of deposits

Total bank balance and cash

Maximum exposure to credit risk

e MR MR

BEZRUERRERE BAARER

®BE (H)

R E B bl 518 B IR R

EREERR

BEREAABE AEELRFFEMM

B -
20 RMITEEFERRSE

2021 2020
—E-—F S
HK$/000 HK$’000
FH T FATT
RekBeEE 275,047 232,199

HERBRAAEBB=EA
B 2 RITIF 3K 201 201
BOTERRBSBE 275,248 232,400
E=mEERR 274,832 232,041

As at 31st March, 2021, the effective interest rate on cash

at bank and bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits was 0.15% (2020: 0.15%).

Bank balances and cash were denominated in the

following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Us$
Euro
SGD
Others

BT
AR
e
BT
N T
HAh

R-ZFE-_—F=ZA=Z+—8 B/IFEAXEH
GRERAEBR=-ZEANNBZRITERZ

BHAERBFR015%(ZF=F

F:0.15%) °

RITHEFRBREIRATEESIE

2021 2020
—E-_—F —EFTHF
HK$’000 HK$/000
FEx T
37,282 49,961
148,281 96,938
73,126 71,673
7,289 5,530
7,745 5,043
1,525 3,255
275,248 232,400
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20

21

e I RR N

Bank balances and cash (Continued) 20 BITHEFRAE (H)
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in TEBUAARBINBEZREERSZEDN
RMB of approximately HK$145,327,000 (2020: 145,327,000 7T (= T — & £ : 96,752,000/8
HK$96,752,000) are deposited with banks in the T)HEGFHRRFRZRIT - GAREINEZE
Mainland China. The conversion of these RMB HBMERIIERERPRATREARAN
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the B E 2 INEE GIR R RROEE -
remittance of funds out of the Mainland China is subject
to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations
promulgated by the Government of The People’s Republic
of China.
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the BeRnEXRTNRRBLFERETI:
purposes of the statement of cash flows:
2021 2020
— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET TET
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFERE 275,047 232,199
Borrowings 21 ®E
2021 2020
—E-—F ZTEZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Long-term bank loans RERITE R 114,240 88,179
Short-term bank loans HERITER 40,270 29,476
Trust receipts import bank loans ErElE#E O RITER 4,218 4,591
Total borrowings, secured EEARERE 158,728 122,246
Less: amounts due on demand or within WA RBREE R E
one year shown under REES—FARH
current liabilities I (158,728) (113,079)
Non-current portion FERNERER (9 — 9,167
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21

Borrowings (Continued)
At 31st March, 2021, the Group’s borrowings were

repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FRX
Between 1 and 2 years —E_F
Between 2 and 5 years —ERF

The above amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and

ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

As at 31st March, 2021 and 2020, the Group has
complied with its financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the
banking facilities of the Group and pledge of assets are
disclosed in Note 30.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of

the year are as follows:

6 months or less ~E A AR
Within 1 year —FUR
Over 1 year il —F

e MR MR

mE (&)
RZBZ—F=A=+—RB -FA&EEZ@ME
ZR BT

2021 2020

— - —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET F#& T
97,322 90,662
28,781 30,334
32,625 1,250
158,728 122,246

ERFRIBZEHARREBEE R G AT AL
EZEBRBH R TEERERKZRERK

2
RZFZ—FR-T-_TF=A=+—AK

RECHAHEEREENYBROER -

MERBEECEREBE AEENRTE
EREFBREEMEENHE30P HKE -

AEEZRERFRETAENREN X Z
PRANBTFEAHMAT

2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHT
93,307 92,770
40,265 29,476
25,156 —

158,728 122,246
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21

Borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR
us$ ET
Others Eftb

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of

reporting period were as follows:

HK$

BT

Long-term bank loans RERITER 2.60%

Short-term bank loans EHIRITE R —
Trust receipts import bank EREWIRE D IRTT

loans B 4.75%

e M BRRME

21 @& (E)
BITRE 2 BEME IR TSE5IE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
91,277 88,986
65,421 29,476
2,030 3,778

— 6

158,728 122,246

RBEERBZARENEMAT

2021 2020
—E-—F —TZETF
RMB uUs$ HK$ RMB us$
AR® E B AR EY
5.10% —  4.80% — —
4.84%  1.86% —  4.98% —
—  445%  4.78% —  481%
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22

Trade, bill and other payables and accruals

Trade payables
Bill payables

Trade and bills payables
Accrued salaries and allowance
Accrued social securities charges

Accrued staff welfare (Note)
Others

Other payables and accruals

Note:

e MR MR

22 BEZRMNER REBEREMEMNK

DURESEE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
B S REMNER 135,748 84,752
e & 1,094 —
EoRNERRER 136,842 84,752
JEIR T & MERL 16,919 17,452
EREESRBRER 54,227 53,220
TERRE TREFM(H:E) 4,707 34,948
Efth 26,949 49,478
HEMENZRETBE 102,802 155,098
239,644 239,850

In relation to the disposal of Starlite Shenzhen, the total restructuring costs
paid and payable amounted to approximately HK$89,408,000 was off-set by
the utilisation of accrued staff welfare of approximately HK$27,996,000 (Note

6).

The ageing analysis of trade and bill payables is as

follows:

1 to 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365 days
Over 365 days

1£90K
91E180K
181%365K
HiH365K

B B

AELEEXARYI BERNRENEEERLEDLN R
89,408,000/ 7T & FiE FA 78 1% B T 4@ F & F £927,996,0007% 7T

T AR (B 5E6)

BZENERLRERREOMAOT

2021 2020
—EZ—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
125,582 77,405
7,589 4,712

163 1,172

3,508 1,463
136,842 84,752
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22

23

Trade, bill and other payables and accruals

(Continued)

The Group’s trade, bill and other payables and accruals

were denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
Us$
RM
Others

Deferred income tax

BT
AR
ET
BREET
H it

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities), net

& B
B
R 3

o dn
& &
m

o
ity

L

e I RR N

22

23

[

EZRNER REEREMEMNK

LU Bt & E ()

AEBZESRMNEF  REKIEMENK

NREAABATIER.SE:

EERBHEE/ (B81E)

-F

2021 2020
— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
21,095 41,131
200,770 185,803
1,249 44
11,476 7,621
5,054 5,251
239,644 239,850
S 5E 18 Bt
BLEMSHEERELEMSHAEN D TW
T
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
1,769 1,604
(1,688) (5,436)
81 (3,832)
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23

Deferred income tax (Continued)

23 EEFEH ()

The net movements in the deferred tax account are as EEMSRFEZEHFBOT
follows:
2021 2020
— - —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
At beginning of the year F ) (3,832) (2,270)
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated Riga Wz RA S (FOBR)
income statement (Note 11) (Bt aE11) 3,930 (1,467)
Translation adjustments EN AR (17) (95)
At end of the year FR 81 (3,832)
The movements in deferred tax assets liabilities BEFMESHEERBBZZESH (W RFTERR
without taking into consideration the offsetting of —HIR R 2 AR T
balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: RIEFTIEMEE -
Provisions Tax losses Total
BiE HiEEE M
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

At beginning of the year
(Charged)/credited to the
consolidated income statement

Translation adjustments

At end of the year

1

REAERERT
(k) /7 A

ERRE

FR

ZE--F —Z2-TF ZB--F —Z-TF ZB--F —T-TF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

T —=

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET FTHERT FHET FTET FHET
1,604 2,363 1,626 3,304 3,230 5,667
58 (704) (923) (1,636) (865) (2,340)

108 (55) — (42) 108 97)
1,770 1,604 703 1,626 2,473 3,230




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

e I RR N

23 EEFEH ()

BEMBHAR:

Accelerated taxation

Withholding Tax depreciation Total

HREBH R E T e
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
“g--f "2 %F - “T-TF -“F--§ “T_%F
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR FERT FET TR TR
At beginning of the year F1 5,369 5,438 1,693 2,499 7,062 7,937

Credited to the consolidated income R A Rmst A

statement (3,861) (67) (934) (806) (4,795) (873)
Translation adjustments E 3 R 125 ) _ o 125 @)
At end of the year FR 1,633 5,369 759 1,693 2,392 7,062

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is payable.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$46,953,000 (2020: HK$37,979,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$25,703,000
(2020: HK$23,725,000) in respect of tax losses that can
be carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$17,173,000 (2020: HK$10,214,000)
will expire in 2021 to 2025 (2020: 2020 to 2024). The
estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the

relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be

companies established

levied on the dividends remitted by the
in the PRC to their foreign
2008. A

withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax

investors starting from 1st January, lower
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. All dividends coming from the profits generated
by the PRC entities after Tst January, 2008 shall be

subject to this withholding income tax.

%7 4B B 1 BB R B P R 5 B B OR
R 205 - B 3 4 88 BB A5 1R 32 0E IE A 49
BAEE-

FAREMGBHEAETSHER AEBUK
BRENTEEBRINREHEZEZNE
WEFT 18 B E E #946,953,0008 T (ZZE T 4 :
37,979,000 L) c BB E P W B EE LD
25,703,000 7T (=T =T 4 : 23,725,000/ 7T)
ALAMBREAE A E R RERT KA - H
BB B 18 9917,173,00008 T (Z & — T F
10,214,000 ) B ER T - —FE2_F
“HEFER(CEZEF T _TFE-T
ZHF) A EEIARN RS E R
MR EH -

RE_ZZLFT_RARNAEBNTREAR
HMBECERSEBEBERGI  R_FZN
F-A—HRB MARTERINGEY
FHMREE D KBS ABKI0%TEREFTER
an R B EL B SNR B T R0 B B M (R RR AT S R
B —ERENERASHEEEER-FH
RPBEKRINEESR-_ZETNF—HA—H
BEMEBAFEORS AU TARMAEH
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24 Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary

mEMBRRNE

BN—HWEARESHRE

2021 2020
—B-—-F —E_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TET
Non-current FRE
Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary X —KIE AR E H K KA
(Note a) (Pif #Fa) 154,065 —
Current B
Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary JE < — Bt B8 B B 5 &Y AR 1A
(Note b) (PHf b)) 69,692 —
223,757 —
Notes: W 5T
(a) Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the major shareholder of (a) BEREERGFE EFNEITERAR_T_TF
the purchaser lent RMB136,800,000 (equivalent to approximately MA+ I A E R AR %136,800,0007T (8 & 7 49
HK$162,009,000) to the Group on 15th April, 2020. The amount is 162,009,000 TC) W ERAAEE ZERBEARE
non-interest bearing and repayable within two years from the EERERAPEAMFEFRNEE-HENL
drawdown date. The imputed interest of HK$14,361,000 is 14,361,000 TEKMEHR BHE-_T-—F=A4
unwinded, incurring a finance cost of HK$6,417,000 for the year =+ — B IEFEEERE K 6,417,000 7T o 11 5T
ended 31st March, 2021. The loan is not required to be repaid by RZELE  AEBEAEEZEN - HEZWBELR
the Group if the disposal is completed. The disposal of the AR—ZE-—FXANBREZERX -
subsidiary was completed on 8th June, 2021.
(b) Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Group is entitled to (b) REAREE E G RO T IR ERE  AEEAR

receive an initial payment of RMB63,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$69,692,000) after certain conditions were fulfilled.
As at 31st March, 2020, the Group received an amount of
approximately HK$11,112,000 which was included in other payables
and accruals (Note 28(d)). After the shareholder’s approval on 8th
April, 2020, the remaining amount of approximately HK$58,580,000
was received by the Group on 14th April, 2020. The amount is
interest-free and repayable within 18 months from the drawdown
date.

I BLE E A R #63,200,0007T (48 & 4
69,692,000 ) c M T _TF=A=+—H" &
&£ B 2 WEAI11,112,00078 7T (B 15 7 H 4th & 1 50 &
ErtAEARCIE28d)) RZT_TFMANBE
BEMAER AEER-_FT_TENA+TAKE
##958,580,000/ 7T c 2 ERIE AR B R FRIER
B+ EANEE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24

25

Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary
(Continued)

The amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary was

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ T
RMB AR

Details of the disposal is disclosed in Note 34.

Share capital

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

As at Tst April, 2019, A
31st March, 2020 and -z
31st March, 2021 -F

FREE.I0B T2 EEK

|l
A
A B

e I RR N

24 BEN-HEIRAELHREGE

JEN — B ARETHFIBI T EEIE:

2021 2020
— B T -TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
69,692 —
154,065 —
223,757 —
HEFBERM 34N HEE -
25 R#&
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Number of Number of
shares shares
RGOHE i g 8
000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
T FEx T & FAET
1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
TEk - BBTREAR
Number of
shares Share capital
BB B8 [N
HK$'000
FAET
mA—A-
—A=+t—H8k
=A=+—H 525,135,288 52,514
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26

Employee share options

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an
employee share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme adopted
on 6th September, 2002. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Company may grant options to employees
(including Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors (excluding Independent Non-Executive Directors)
of the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time excluding for this purpose any shares issued on the
exercise of options. The exercise price will be determined
by the Company’s board of directors and shall be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares of HK$0.1 each. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended 31st
March, 2021 and 2020.
outstanding as at 31st March, 2021 and 2020.

No share options were

e MR MR

26

EEBEKRE

RZE—ZFNATHB  ARAEFN—E
ERRETE(ERESEDURRAR_Z
T_FNAAABEMACEBERESS - RIE
BREFES AR AAMEI(BEARAIZH
TESERIERTES (TREBUIFNTES))
BREERENRERRARRG mal T2
BOBEZARARATHERITRG Z
30% - BENETEATEEREMZTZRMD -
REEBBAARAZEEREE  EPTER
NT=ZBEz&®E  (RKXEBBEERQAKRNG
Z W E (AR A ARG R BB B E AT
FEZEERZRMDTFHWRTE: RGiNAR A
Mz mE (BRI L) o AN & B I &5
TERHETEETLEKAR ST SERAE -

R-E-—FR-_ZET-_ZTF=ZA=+—HIt
FEAN TEROENERE - R_FT = —
FR-E-_TFZA=Z+—BUEEHRITE
H B AR B o
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27 Reserves 27 &8

Financial

assets at fair

value through

other

comprehensive

income

Share Capital Statutory ~ revaluation  Translation Retained

premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total

BOABE

AHARA

2R

SREEZ
i@ ARG R EfbRER EXGE REEF 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT TER THETL TBT TER THETL TBT

As at 31st March, 2019 and ~~ RZZF—AE

Tst April, 2019 “A=+-Bk
“Z-hEMAE-A 127,796 1,792 15,612 1,269 42,637 226,791 416,097
Comprehensive income 2ERE
Profit attributable to the KARHEEAREET
owners of the Company — - — — - 8,499 8,499
Other comprehensive income i1 2 & 5
Decrease in fair value of RAABEFALLE

financial assets at fair value AhENeREEY
through other comprehensive A 7t E B D

income — — - (587) — - (587)
Currency translation ERER
differences — — — — (27,932) — (27,932)

Total comprehensive loss for ~ FR2ABHELE
the year — — — (587) (27,932) 8,499 (20,020)

Transactions with the owners HEERBEEAZ
in their capacity as owners ~ BEHARSH

Transfer to statutory reserve BREETHE — — 3,228 — — (3,228) —
_ _ 3228 (587) (27,932) 5,271 20,020)

As at 31st March, 2020 i3
“A=t-R 127,796 1,792 19,040 682 14,705 232,062 396,077
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27

mEMBRRNE

Reserves (Continued) 27 {4 (&)
Financial
assets at fair
value through
other
comprehensive
income
Share Capital Statutory  revaluation  Translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BARER
AR
2EREN
SREEL
RAEE EAGE EERE EftffE ERGE REER ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
As at 31st March, 2020 and R-B-%%
Tst April, 2020 ZAZt-R
—Z-ZEMA-H 127,796 1,792 19,040 682 14,705 232,062 396,077
Comprehensive loss 2EER
Loss attributable to the owners ~ AR EEHAEHER
of the Company — - — — - (98,525) (98,525)
Other comprehensive income ~ Hft2EkH
Increase in fair value of RARBEFALME
financial assets at fair value EafeREEL
through other comprehensive RAEEEM
income — — — 92 — — 92
Currency translation differences  EXZ2 — — — — 34,569 - 34,569
Total comprehensive loss for ERREREEAR
the year — — — 92 34,569 (98,525) (63,864)
Transactions with the owners in  RERAEEAZ
their capacity as owners BEARS
Transfer to statutory reserve BREETHE — — 471 — — 471) —
Dividends paid BRRE - - — - - (31,508) (31,508)
- - 4 92 34,569 (130,504) 95,372)
As at 31st March, 2021 RZEZ—F
ZA=1-H 127,796 1,792 19,511 774 49,274 101,558 300,705
Note:  As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to MiaE: REARARARRBEK T RAEEHHE QRSP

the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their
statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are
required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year
losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of
their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

BUEBIROERMRTE - FAKBARBARBRERN (B
EHEURMFEOEBER) DREXTERE - LFTED
EFRTENSFARARERERE L FFNEZ
10%ZEEERE BEEDIKEEATRHEZENERQA
B 511 & AR B950% © 1t 50 TE A R DA R 8 DA BT
1R sk A AT AT AR o AR R B R B AR S O B
DRABE - EREERT R IR B ZRE)
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 MERERERME
flows
(@) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to @ KBBEA(EE, A 8EKL2EEK
cash (used in)/generated from operations: (TR EXxBe 28k :
2021 2020
—EZ—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax B FLAT (B518) % F (93,264) 19,205
Adjustments for: KT
— Interest income — FBEUA (16,072) (510)
— Interest expense — MEXH 10,623 8,361
— Depreciation of property, plant — WE - BELEREZ
and equipment (Note 14) e (MeE14) 46,786 47,729
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~— FRABEEZITE
(Note 15) (B 5E15) 6,080 5,002
— (Gains)/losses on disposals of — LEYE BER
property, plant and equipment EPAC - sk
(Notes 6 and 28(b)) (P 36 X228(b) ) (10,968) 902
— Reversal of impairment losses on — S RMEEMEEER
financial assets (1,557) (1,719)
— Provision for inventories — REFERE
obsolescence (Note 7) B (K sE7) 9,718 4,575
— Provision for impairment of — WE BELRRBN
property, plant and equipment BB (M 5E7)
(Note 7) 784 —
— Written off of property, plant and — HEME BERRB
equipment (Note 6) (B 5Ee6) 3,900 —
— Net fair value gains on financial — BARBEFAERN
assets at fair value through PRMEEZAAEE
profit or loss (Notes 6 and Wz 7 (M st6 K 17(b))
17(b)) (214) (198)
— Net gain on disposal of financial — HEBRAABEEA
assets at fair value through BENEmEEY
profit or loss (Note 6) s (BT 3%6) (635)
(44,819) 83,347
Changes in working capital (excluding & &% &5
effects of translation adjustments) (TERELARENTE)
— Inventories —FE 632 8,655
— Trade and bill receivables — B FEWERNERE (19,940) 57,082
— Prepayments and deposits — ENRERERE (5,977) 5,985
— Trade and bill payables — BHRNERRRE 44,598 (38,442)
— Other payables and accruals — HWENR L ETEE (50,090) (3,615)
— Deferred revenue — B A (805) (271)
Cash (used in)/generated from REEB (R EEZ
operations BHe (76,401) 112,741
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (Continued)

(b)

(c)

In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of property, plant and equipment

comprise:

Net book value R FE

Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, HEWE «  BFE K &EZ
plant and equipment (Note 6) Wz, (E518) (M 3Fe)

Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME BMELREBZ

plant and equipment FR 5 A

Non-cash transactions
Non-cash investing activities disclosed in other
notes are the acquisition of right-of-use assets (Note
15) and the imputed interest income and imputed
interest expense from amount due to a purchaser
of a subsidiary (Note 24).

e MR MR

28 HEREREBRME ()

(b)

(c)

RREREXRAN HEWE HERER
WZSRABEE:

2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHx FiBT
8,156 1,340
10,968 (902)
19,124 438

(RERS
REMMERBENIEFRESRETH AR
EEAREEE (315 REM—HBL
AETMREEE ZHER B M E R
BB X (M E24) »
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28

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 MEBRERERMKT(E)

flows (Continued)

(d)

Net (debt)/cash reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net (debt)/cash

and the movements in net (debt)/cash for each of

the years presented.

Net (debt)/cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Borrowing and loans

Amount due to a purchaser of
a subsidiary

Bill payable

Lease liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents
Gross debt — fixed interest rates
Gross debt — variable interest rates
Amount due to a purchaser of

a subsidiary
Bill payable
Lease liabilities

Net (debt)/cash

d F(EB REHE
AEHIF (BB REN T RERT
FENE(BE) / ReEH-

2021 2020
— - —E-FF
HK$/000 HK$'000
FERT FET
B(BE) Be
Re kBeEE 275,047 232,199
A& R E X (158,728) (122,246)
ER—EARE S K HRIE
(223,757) —
R RiE (1,094) —
HEAE (7,140) (7,129)
(115,672) 102,824
Re kBeEEAE 275,047 232,199
BE — EE R (40,265) (29,476)
BE — FEFIE (118,463) (92,770)
B —EARE S HHRE
(223,757) —
JET R’ (1,094) —
HEAE (7,140) (7,129)

F(BE) Re (115,672) 102,824
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28

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (Continued)

(d)

Net (debt)/cash reconciliation (Continued)

Net cash as at
Tst April, 2019
Acquisition — Lease
Cash flows
Foreign exchange
adjustments

Interest — Lease

Net cash as at
31st March, 2020

Net cash as at
Ist April, 2020
Acquisition — Lease
Termination — Lease
Transferred from
other payables
and accruals
(Note 24(h))
Cash flows
Foreign exchange
adjustments
Interest — Lease
Net imputed interest

income

Net debt as at
31st March, 2021

R-ZE-NFOA
—HZERS

Wi — HE

HEing

SMEE TR

ME —HE

RZZT-ZTE5=R
=+-HZ%R%

RZZE_FTEMNA
—AZ3R%

Wi —HE

®it —HE

B R
EirBEER
(B 5E24(b))

Other assets

e MR MR

28

Liabilities from financing activities

(d)

RERERERWEE (B

F(EBE) REHRGE

HthEE METHELCRE
Amount
due to a
Borrowings purchaser of Lease

Cash and loans a subsidiary  Bill payable liabilities Total

BN

ARETH
e MERER RE  ENRE HE&HE an
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
249,982 (214,091) — — (4,315) 31,576
_ _ — - (6,977) (6,977)
(4,842) 89,790 — — 4,124 89,072
(12,941) 2,055 — — 375 (10,511)
_ — — (336) (336)
232,199 (122,246) — — (7,129) 102,824
232,199 (122,246) — - 7,129) 102,824
_ _ — — (5,038) (5,038)
— — — — 257 257
— — (11,112) — — (11,112)
6,839 (32,858)  (208,302) (1,094) 5,431 (229,984)
36,009 (3,624) (12,287) — (403) 19,695
— — — — (258) (258)
— — 7,944 — - 7944
275,047 (158,728) (223,757 (1,094) 7,140)  (115,672)
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29 Commitment

(a)

(b)

e I RR N

29 RiE
Capital commitments (@) EBREIE
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of REBRBESERBETNEIKRTA
reporting period contracted but not yet incurred is - N
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EFHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Authorised and contracted for: BEHEREEITER :
Machinery 25 34,846 104
Construction in progress ERETIE 42,448 5,944
Others HAh 695 8
77,989 6,056

Operating lease commitments

The Group leases offices, warehouses and
dormitories under non-cancellable operating leases
expiring within 1 to 2 years. From 1st April, 2019,
the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for
these leases, except for short term leases, see Note

2.19 for further information.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases not recognised as right-of-use
assets in the consolidated financial statements are

as follows:

Amounts payable FER

— within one year

— —FHNR

(h) REHEHEE
REBATABCEMEEHERAZE
MmER REREL BOBHAE—E=M
F-HZZE-NAFHOA-—BE BREH
HHSN AEEERLEHE RERE
BE FHFEL2EM2.19°

REEMBRENLEERRECHAEE
ENTAZHZEEHE 2 RRKEH

EMFET
2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER FHT
1,110 684
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30

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2021, the Group had aggregate banking

facilities of approximately HK$259,466,000

(2020:

HK$172,264,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing
and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same
date amounted to approximately HK$100,738,000 (2020:
HK$43,768,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i)

(iii)

mortgages over the Group’s buildings with net
book value of approximately HK$43,268,000 (2020:
HK$3,013,000) (Note 14(c));

mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land with a
net book value of approximately HK$2,026,000
(2020: HK$2,229,000) (Note 15(iii));

floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements
of approximately HK$4,218,000 (2020:
HK$4,591,000) (Note 18);

guarantees provided by the Company and certain

of its subsidiaries; and

charges over the Group’s FVPL with fair value of
approximately HK$3,769,000 (2020: HK$8,905,000)
(Note 17(b)).

e MR MR

30

RITEEEREERN

RZZEZ—FZRF=+—HB AEHERHE
2EX BEF - BHBERBITERSERITE
B 4 ¥ #9259,466,0008 L(= T = T F:
172,264,000/ 7T) - REIB M ARB A 2 R171E
B % #9100,738,0008 jL(= T = T F:
43,768,000% 7T) c L FRITEEB 2 ER D

T

(i)

(i)

(iii)

R B R EDFE £943,268,0008 T (=&
Z T 13,013,000/ 70) 2 EF LB (M
$14(c))

7K £ @) BR T ¥ (B 492,026,000/ T (—F
ZEF 2,229,000 ) 2 M E L iR
18 (M 51500 ) ;

RNEBIRETWBEEOBRITERTHR
BAZETFE44,2180008 T(—=
—F 1 4,591,000 7T) (M 5£18)

ARRREETHEBRR PR ZE
L~

A D (B 1E 493,769,000 T (- F —
T 18,905,000 L) Z NEEE AR
BEAEZZEMEE KE170b)) -
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31

Related party transactions 31 BEALZXRS

As at 31st March, 2021, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially RZZEZ—F=ZA=+—B MEMEEH
owned approximately 38.63% of the Company’s ordinary BARR A 4938.63%8) T MR D - HRL L
shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially owned approximately FAARRA541%0 EBIRKRG - k&
15.41% of the Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam REBRLT A RERAESE -

and Ms. Yeung are directors of the Company.

(@) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the (@ BEEAGEHBREREMIBOIN T

consolidated financial statements, the following P HEEEANTHET LIRS

transaction was carried out with related parties:

2021 2020
—E-—fF —TEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Transactions related to lease with: ERAHENR S :
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note) — H Rzt (M)
* Payment of lease liabilities c HEBENMK 83 84
e Interest element of s HEBENEHH
lease liabilities 3 4
Note: B 5
The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with Ms. AEEEGRLIITELERERE LY

Yeung Chui. The transaction was carried out in the usual course of
business, and in accordance with the terms of the contract entered
into by the Group and the related party. Under HKFRS 16 — Lease,

B-MEBER REASEABEALETAR
ZAGFETT - RETEV B REERE 165 — HE -
ReNERRACHARAERAENEEARE &

the operating lease has been recognised as a right-of-use asset and ECT - —ER-T-TFE=ZRA=+-HILFEY

a corresponding lease liability. Cash outflow to Ms. Yeung Chui
during the year ended 31st March, 2021 and 2020 represented the
repayment of lease liabilities and interest expenses.

by FTEEBAESHEENS

(b) Key management compensation

BREZINRASAHAEERAEEERFESH -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FTF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Basic salaries, allowances and others HEAEF 2  ZMEHEAM 9,690 10,204

Discretionary bonus HHREZEL 680 624
Pension costs — defined contribution  BIRK A — 2 E H R EHE

plans 172 178

10,542 11,006
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32

Financial instruments by category

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade and bill receivables (Note 19)

Deposits

Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits (Note 20)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20)

Financial assets at fair value:

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 17)

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (Note 17)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and bill payables (Note 22)
Other payables and accruals
Borrowings (Note 21)

Lease liabilities (Note 15)

e MR MR

32 £RIBRERES

SREE
AEHA AT ENEREE -
BEoRBERRER
(Mf3E19)

}'*/\
BHEXARAEBA=EA
B8~ SR 1713 5% (I 5%20)
e M EE (M :320)

o
t

W
L\) WS

BEIEHSREE:
BEFABRZNER
= (H3%17)
AEBEFAREMER
WermEEME17)

2 =

l\

-—\+

/

LIﬁl

SHMEE
NEHEA AT ENERARE :
B S EMNERRER(HE22)
HiENRRESBE
BE (M aE21)
HEa &M s

2021 2020
—EZ—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
179,671 154,522
11,370 8,244

201 201
275,047 232,199
466,289 395,166
8,332 13,335
1,510 1,418
9,842 14,753

2021 2020
—E=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
136,842 84,752
23,512 46,011
158,728 122,246
7,140 7,129
326,222 260,138
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Statement of financial position and movement 33

of reserve of the Company

(@)

Statement of financial position of the @
Company
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in and amounts due RBRARIZERE R
from subsidiaries FE U R IE
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and deposits BNRELES
Tax recoverable AT 4 [8 B 18
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEE
Total assets EEHBE
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the owners of  AQFHEE ABLESR
the Company
Share capital g A<
Reserves (Note 33(b)) (M EE33 (b))
Total equity ERAE
LIABILITIES a1&
Current liabilities RBARE
Other payables and accruals HtENRLETEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEST BT B A Rl 3E
Total liabilities EEAE
Total equity and liabilities EEREBEAR

e I RR N

ARFZHMBRARERRFEEED

DR ZHBERRE
2021 2020
—E=Z—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
211,836 257,416
900 895
2 43
1,725 1,089
2,627 2,027
214,463 259,443
52,514 52,514
156,014 187,584
208,528 240,098
1,534 1,808
4,401 17,537
5,935 19,345
214,463 259,443
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Statement of financial position and movement 33 ZXARZHBEMRREXRRZESZE (&)
of reserve of the Company (Continued)
(b) Movement of reserve of the Company by ALARZREREBEED
The changes in the reserves of the Company during RAARR-ZZE-—F=R=+—HEZ=
the years ended 31st March, 2021 and 2020 are as ToTFERHEEPHOT
follows:
Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
B 17 355 (8 EXRGHE 1R 8 3% 7 i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
As at Tst April, 2019 RZZE—NF
mA—A 127,796 520 24,268 152,584
Profit for the year F R A — — 35,000 35,000
As at 31st March, 2020 RKZZ -4
=A=+—8H 127,796 520 59,268 187,584
As at Tst April, 2020 RZZ_TF
mA—H 127,796 520 59,268 187,584
Loss for the year FREE — — (62) (62)
Dividends paid B E — — (31,508) (31,508)
As at 31st March, 2021 R ZZTZ—%
—A=+-—8 127,796 520 27,698 156,014
Events after the reporting period 34 WEPEEREER

Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Group

conditionally agreed to sell, and the Purchaser
conditionally agreed to purchase, the entire equity
interest of an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company — Starlite Shenzhen at a cash consideration of
approximately RMB319,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$378,020,000). The disposal of Starlite
Shenzhen is regarded as a very substantial disposal in
accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The disposal was completed on 8th June, 2021. Following
the completion of the disposal, Starlite Shenzhen has
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group. The Board of
Director of the Company is still assessing the financial

impact of the disposal.

KIERESZDE ASEREERGLE
MEAREBKRHEEEZ R A2 A M
E2EMNBARANZERAEZ REAA
R % #319,200,0007T (18 % 1 £9378,020,0007%
T RBEBEABMERSGMERAGES LT
RA HEEX RV BAEFEALESTE -
ZEEEER _Z-—FXAN\NBREITK -
HETKE  EXERNTHAEAEERDN B
NA - BEEGNMETHZELENMBHEE -
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